Ann. Henri Poincaré 19 (2018), 1747–1786 © 2018 Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 1424-0637/18/061747-40 published online March 15, 2018 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00023-018-0664-8

Annales Henri Poincaré



Balance Between Quantum Markov Semigroups

Rocco Duvenhage and Machiel Snyman

Abstract. The concept of balance between two state-preserving quantum Markov semigroups on von Neumann algebras is introduced and studied as an extension of conditions appearing in the theory of quantum detailed balance. This is partly motivated by the theory of joinings. Balance is defined in terms of certain correlated states (couplings), with entangled states as a specific case. Basic properties of balance are derived, and the connection to correspondences in the sense of Connes is discussed. Some applications and possible applications, including to non-equilibrium statistical mechanics, are briefly explored.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1748
2.	The Definition of Balance	1749
3.	Couplings and u.c.p. Maps	1753
4.	A Characterization of Balance	1758
5.	Composition of Couplings and Transitivity of Balance	1763
6.	Balance, Detailed Balance and Non-equilibrium	1770
7.	An Example	1773
	7.1. The Couplings	1775
	7.2. The Dynamics	1777
	7.3. Balance	1779
	7.4. A Reversing Operation	1781
8.	Further Work	1782
Acknowledgements		1783
References		1783

1. Introduction

Motivated by quantum detailed balance, we define and study the notion of balance between pairs of quantum Markov semigroups on von Neumann algebras, where each semigroup preserves a faithful normal state. Ideas related to quantum detailed balance continue to play an important role in studying certain aspects of non-equilibrium statistical mechanics, in particular non-equilibrium steady states. See for example [2,3,5]. A theory of balance as introduced here is therefore potentially applicable to non-equilibrium statistical mechanics. In this paper, however, we just lay the foundations by developing the basics of a theory of balance. Non-equilibrium is only touched on.

The papers on quantum detailed balance that most directly lead to the work presented in this paper are [25,28–30]. Of particular relevance are ideas connected to standard quantum detailed balance and maximally entangled bipartite states. Standard quantum detailed balance conditions were mentioned in [20], but discussed and developed in [29,30]. Connections to maximally entangled states were discussed in [25,28,29]. However, a number of other papers develop ideas related to standard quantum detailed balance and dualities, of which [13,14,50] contributed to our line of investigation.

The theory of balance can be viewed as being parallel to the theory joinings for W*-dynamical systems. The latter was developed in [22–24] and studied further in [11], for the case where the dynamics are given by *-automorphism groups. Some aspects of noncommutative joinings also appeared in [60] and [44] related to entropy, and in [33] related to certain ergodic theorems. In [46] results closely related to joinings were presented regarding a coupling method for quantum Markov chains and mixing times.

The theory of joinings is already a powerful tool in classical ergodic theory (see the book [37] for an exposition), which is what motivated its study in the noncommutative case. Analogously, we expect a theory of balance between quantum Markov semigroups to be of use in the study of such semigroups.

The definition of balance is given in Sect. 2, along with relevant mathematical background, in particular regarding the definition of a dual of certain positive maps. Couplings of states on two von Neumann algebras are also defined there, essentially being states on compound systems reducing to the states of the individual systems.

In Sect. 3 we show how couplings lead to unital completely positive (u.c.p.) maps from one von Neumann algebra to another. Of central importance in this regard, is the diagonal coupling of two copies of the same state. In certain standard special cases of states on the algebra $B(\mathfrak{H})$, with \mathfrak{H} a finite dimensional or separable Hilbert space, the diagonal coupling is the maximally entangled bipartite state compatible with the single system states (see Sect. 7.2), indicating a close connection between these u.c.p. maps and entanglement. These u.c.p. maps and diagonal couplings play a key role in developing the theory of balance. This is related to [11, Section 4], although in the latter, certain assumptions involving modular groups are built into the framework,

while analogous assumptions are not made in the definition of balance leading to the theory developed in this paper.

Section 4 gives a characterization of balance in terms of intertwinement with the u.c.p. maps defined in Sect. 3. The role of KMS-duals and the special case of KMS-symmetry are also briefly discussed in the context of symmetry of balance. Two simple applications are then given to illustrate the use of balance. One is to characterize an ergodicity condition in a way analogous to the theory of joinings (Proposition 4.8). The other is on the convergence of states to steady states in open quantum systems and non-equilibrium statistical mechanics (Proposition 4.9).

The development of the theory of balance continues in Sect. 5, where balance is shown to be transitive, using the composition of couplings. The definition and properties of such compositions are treated in some detail. The connection to correspondences in the sense of Connes is also discussed. The connection of correspondences to joinings was already pointed out in [11,44, Section 5].

Next, in Sect. 6, we discuss a quantum detailed balance condition (namely standard quantum detailed balance with respect to a reversing operation, from [29,30]) in terms of balance. Based on this, we briefly speculate on non-equilibrium steady states in the context of balance.

We turn to a simple example to illustrate a number of the ideas from this paper in Sect. 7.

In the final section, possible further directions of study are mentioned.

2. The Definition of Balance

This section gives the definition of balance, but for convenience and completeness also collects some related known results that we need in the formulation of this definition as well as later on in the paper. Some of the notation used in the rest paper is also introduced.

In this paper we consider systems defined as follows:

Definition 2.1. A system $\mathbf{A} = (A, \alpha, \mu)$ consists of a faithful normal state μ on a (necessarily σ -finite) von Neumann algebra A, and a unital completely positive (u.c.p.) map $\alpha: A \to A$, such that $\mu \circ \alpha = \mu$.

Remark 2.2. Note that we only consider a single u.c.p. map, since throughout the paper we can develop the theory at a single point in time. This can then be applied to a semigroup of u.c.p. maps by applying the definitions and results to each element of the semigroup separately (also see Remarks 2.6, 2.11, 4.5 and 6.6, Proposition 4.9 and Sect. 7).

In the rest of the paper, the symbols \mathbf{A} , \mathbf{B} and \mathbf{C} will denote systems (A, α, μ) , (B, β, ν) and (C, γ, ξ) , respectively. The unit of a von Neumann algebra will be denoted by 1. When we want to emphasize it is the unit of, say, A, the notation 1_A will be used.

Without loss of generality, in this paper we always assume that these von Neumann algebras are in the cyclic representations associated with the given states, i.e., the cyclic representation of (A, μ) is of the form $(G_{\mu}, \mathrm{id}_A, \Lambda_{\mu})$, where G_{μ} is the Hilbert space, id_A denotes the identity map of A into $B(G_{\mu})$, and Λ_{μ} is the cyclic and separating vector such that $\mu(a) = \langle \Lambda_{\mu}, a\Lambda_{\mu} \rangle$.

The dynamics α of a system **A** is necessarily a contraction, since it is positive and unital (see for example [12, Proposition II.6.9.4]). Furthermore, α is automatically normal. This is due to the following result:

Theorem 2.3. Let M and N be von Neumann algebras on the Hilbert spaces H and K, respectively, and consider states on them, respectively, given by $\mu(a) = \langle \Omega, a\Omega \rangle$ and $\nu(b) = \langle \Lambda, b\Lambda \rangle$, with $\Omega \in H$ and $\Lambda \in K$ cyclic vectors, i.e., $\overline{M\Omega} = H$ and $\overline{N\Lambda} = K$. Assume that ν is faithful and consider a positive linear (but not necessarily unital) $\eta: M \to N$ such that

$$\nu(\eta(a)^*\eta(a)) \le \mu(a^*a)$$

for all $a \in M$. Then it follows that η is normal, i.e., σ -weakly continuous.

Results of this type appear to be well known, so we omit the proof. This result applies to a system **A**, since from the Stinespring dilation theorem [62] one obtains Kadison's inequality $\alpha(a)^*\alpha(a) \leq \alpha(a^*a)$ for all $a \in A$, i.e., α is a Schwarz mapping; see for example [12, Proposition II.6.9.14].

A central notion in our work is the dual of a system, defined as follows:

Definition 2.4. The dual of the system **A**, is the system $\mathbf{A}' = (A', \alpha', \mu')$ where A' is the commutant of A (in $B(G_{\mu})$), μ' is the state on A' given by $\mu'(a') = \langle \Lambda_{\mu}, a' \Lambda_{\mu} \rangle$ for all $a' \in A'$, and $\alpha' : A' \to A'$ is the unique map such that

$$\langle \Lambda_{\mu}, a\alpha'(a')\Lambda_{\mu} \rangle = \langle \Lambda_{\mu}, \alpha(a)a'\Lambda_{\mu} \rangle$$

for all $a \in A$ and all $a' \in A'$.

Note that in this definition, we have

$$\mu' = \mu \circ j_{\mu}$$

where

$$j_{\mu} := J_{\mu}(\cdot)^* J_{\mu} \tag{1}$$

with J_{μ} the modular conjugation associated with μ .

The dual of a system is well-defined because of the following known result:

Theorem 2.5. Let H and K be Hilbert spaces, M a (not necessarily unital) *-subalgebra of B(H), and N a (not necessarily unital) C^* -subalgebra of B(K). Let $\Omega \in H$ with $\|\Omega\| = 1$ be cyclic for M, i.e., $M\Omega$ is dense in H, and let $\Lambda \in K$ be any unit vector. Set

$$\mu: M \to \mathbb{C}: a \mapsto \langle \Omega, a\Omega \rangle$$

and

$$\nu: N \to \mathbb{C}: b \mapsto \langle \Lambda, b\Lambda \rangle$$
.

Consider any positive linear $\eta: M \to N$, i.e., for a positive operator $a \in M$, we have that $\eta(a)$ is a positive operator. Assume furthermore that

$$\nu \circ \eta = \mu$$
.

Then there exists a unique map, called the dual of η ,

$$\eta': N' \to M'$$

such that

$$\langle \Omega, a\eta'(b')\Omega \rangle = \langle \Lambda, \eta(a)b'\Lambda \rangle$$

for all $a \in M$ and $b' \in N'$. The map η' is necessarily linear, positive and unital, i.e., $\eta'(1) = 1$, and $\|\eta'\| = 1$. Furthermore the following two results hold under two different sets of additional assumptions:

- (a) If η is n-positive, then η' is n-positive as well. In particular, if η is completely positive, then η' is as well.
- (b) If M and N contain the identity operators on H and K, respectively, and η is unital (i.e., $\eta(1) = 1$), then it follows that

$$\mu' \circ \eta' = \nu',$$

where $\mu'(a') := \langle \Omega, a'\Omega \rangle$ and $\nu'(b') := \langle \Lambda, b'\Lambda \rangle$ for all $a' \in M'$ and $b' \in N'$. If in addition Λ is separating for N', then η' is faithful in the sense that when $\eta'(b'^*b') = 0$, it follows that b' = 0.

Proof. This is proven using [21, Lemma 1 on p. 53]. See [1, Proposition 3.1] and [8, Theorem 2.1].

Strictly speaking one should say that η' is the dual of η with respect to μ and ν , but the states will always be implicitly clear.

In particular, with M=N=A and $\Omega=\Lambda=\Lambda_{\mu}$, we see from this theorem that the dual of the system **A** is well-defined.

Remark 2.6. If instead of the single map α , we have a semigroup of u.c.p. maps $(\alpha_t)_{t\geq 0}$ leaving μ invariant, then $\alpha'_t \equiv (\alpha_t)'$ also gives a semigroup of u.c.p. maps leaving μ' invariant. The continuity or measurability properties of this dual semigroup (as function of t) will depend on those of α_t . Consider for example the standard assumption made for (continuous time) quantum Markov semigroups, namely that $t \mapsto \alpha_t(a)$ is σ -weakly continuous for every $a \in A$. Then it can be shown that $t \mapsto \varphi(\alpha'_t(a'))$ is continuous for every $a' \in A'$ and every normal state φ on A', so $t \mapsto \alpha'_t(a')$ is σ -weakly continuous for every $a' \in A'$. That is, $(\alpha'_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is also a quantum Markov semigroup (with the same type of continuity property). If we were to include these assumptions in our definition of a system, then the dual of such a system would therefore still be a system. Our example in Sect. 7 will indeed be for semigroups indexed by $t \geq 0$, with even stronger continuity properties. Also, see for example the dynamical flows considered in [8], where weaker assumptions are made.

It is helpful to keep the following fact about duals in mind:

П

Corollary 2.7. If in addition to the assumptions in Theorem 2.5 (prior to parts (a) and (b)), we have that M and N are von Neumann algebras, η is unital and Λ is cyclic for N', then we have

$$\eta'' = \eta$$
.

Proof. This follows directly from the theorem itself, since $\eta'': M \to N$ is then the unique map such that $\langle \Lambda, b'\eta''(a)\Lambda \rangle = \langle \Omega, \eta'(b')a\Omega \rangle$ for all $a \in M$ and $b' \in N'$, while we know (again from the theorem) that $\langle \Lambda, b'\eta(a)\Lambda \rangle = \langle \Omega, \eta'(b')a\Omega \rangle$ for all $a \in M$ and $b' \in N'$.

We also record the following simple result:

Proposition 2.8. If in Theorem 2.5 we assume in addition that μ and ν are faithful normal states on von Neumann algebras M and N (so Ω and Λ are the corresponding cyclic and separating vectors), then

$$(j_{\nu} \circ \eta \circ j_{\mu})' = j_{\mu} \circ \eta' \circ j_{\nu}$$

for the map $j_{\nu} \circ \eta \circ j_{\mu} : M' \to N'$ obtained in terms of Eq. (1).

Proof. It is a straightforward calculation to show that

$$\langle \Omega, a' j_{\mu} \circ \eta' \circ j_{\nu}(b) \Omega \rangle = \langle \Lambda, j_{\nu} \circ \eta \circ j_{\mu}(a') b \Lambda \rangle$$

for all $a' \in M'$ and $b \in N$.

This proposition is related to KMS-duals and KMS-symmetry which appear in Sects. 4 and 6 via the following definition:

Definition 2.9. The map $\eta^{\sigma} := j_{\mu} \circ \eta' \circ j_{\nu} : N \to M$ in Proposition 2.8 will be referred to as the *KMS-dual* of the positive linear map $\eta : M \to N$.

Combining Corollary 2.7 and Proposition 2.8, we see that

$$(\eta^{\sigma})^{\sigma} = \eta. \tag{2}$$

Further remarks and references on the origins of KMS-duals are given in Sect. 4.

Let us now finally turn to our main concern in this paper:

Definition 2.10. Let μ and ν be faithful normal states on the von Neumann algebras A and B, respectively. A *coupling* of (A, μ) and (B, ν) , is a state ω on the algebraic tensor product $A \odot B'$ such that

$$\omega(a \otimes 1) = \mu(a)$$
 and $\omega(1 \otimes b') = \nu'(b')$

for all $a \in A$ and $b \in B'$. We also call such an ω a coupling of μ and ν . Let **A** and **B** be systems. We say that **A** and **B** (in this order) are in *balance* with respect to a coupling ω of μ and ν , expressed in symbols as

$$\mathbf{A}\omega\mathbf{B}$$
.

if

$$\omega(\alpha(a) \otimes b') = \omega(a \otimes \beta'(b'))$$

for all $a \in A$ and $b' \in B'$.

Notice that this definition is in terms of the dual \mathbf{B}' rather than in terms of \mathbf{B} itself. To define balance in terms of $\omega(\alpha(a)\otimes b)=\omega(a\otimes\beta(b))$, for $a\in A$ and $b\in B$, turns out to be a less natural convention, in particular with regard to transitivity (see Sect. 5). Also, strictly speaking, saying that \mathbf{A} and \mathbf{B} are in balance, implies a direction, say from \mathbf{A} to \mathbf{B} . These points will become more apparent in subsequent sections. For example, symmetry of balance is explored in Sect. 4 in terms of KMS-symmetry of the dynamics α and β .

Remark 2.11. For systems given by quantum Markov semigroups $(\alpha_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and $(\beta_t)_{t\geq 0}$, instead of a single map for each system, we note that balance is defined by requiring $\omega(\alpha_t(a)\otimes b')=\omega(a\otimes\beta'_t(b'))$ at every $t\geq 0$.

Remark 2.12. For comparison to the theory of joinings [22–24], note that a joining of systems **A** and **B**, with α and β *-automorphisms, is a state ω on $A \odot B$ such that $\omega(a \otimes 1) = \mu(a)$, $\omega(1 \otimes b) = \nu(b)$ and $\omega \circ (\alpha \odot \beta) = \omega$. In addition [11] also assumes that $\omega \circ (\sigma_t^{\mu} \odot \sigma_t^{\nu}) = \omega$, where σ_t^{μ} and σ_t^{ν} are the modular groups associated with μ and ν . In [11], however, it is formulated in terms of the opposite algebra of B, which is in that sense somewhat closer to the conventions used above for balance.

3. Couplings and u.c.p. Maps

Here we define and study a map E_{ω} associated with a coupling ω . This map is of fundamental importance in the theory of balance, as will be seen in the next two sections. We do not consider systems in this section, only couplings. At the end of Sect. 5, we discuss how E_{ω} appears in the theory of correspondences. Some aspects of this section and the next are closely related to [11, Section 4] regarding joinings (see Remark 2.12).

Let ω be a coupling of (A, μ) and (B, ν) as in Definition 2.10. To clarify certain points later on in this and subsequent sections, we consider multiple (but necessarily unitarily equivalent) cyclic representations of a given von Neumann algebra and state. This requires us to have corresponding notations. We assume without loss of generality that (B, ν) is in its cyclic representation, denoted here by $(G_{\nu}, \mathrm{id}_B, \Lambda_{\nu})$, which means that $(G_{\nu}, \mathrm{id}_{B'}, \Lambda_{\nu})$ is a cyclic representation of (B', ν') . Similarly, we assume that (A, μ) is in the cyclic representation $(G_{\mu}, \mathrm{id}_A, \Lambda_{\mu})$.

Denoting the cyclic representation of $(A \odot B', \omega)$ by $(H_{\omega}, \pi_{\omega}, \Omega_{\omega})$, we obtain a second cyclic representation $(H_{\mu}, \pi_{\mu}, \Omega_{\mu})$ of (A, μ) by setting

$$H_{\mu} := \overline{\pi_{\omega}(A \otimes 1)\Omega_{\omega}}, \quad \pi_{\mu}(a) := \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1)|_{H_{\mu}} \quad \text{and} \quad \Omega_{\mu} := \Omega_{\omega}$$
 (3)

for all $a \in A$, since

$$\langle \Omega_{\mu}, \pi_{\mu}(a)\Omega_{\mu} \rangle = \langle \Omega_{\omega}, \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1)\Omega_{\omega} \rangle = \omega(a \otimes 1) = \mu(a).$$

Similarly,

$$H_{\nu} := \overline{\pi_{\omega}(1 \otimes B')\Omega_{\omega}}, \quad \pi_{\nu'}(b') := \pi_{\omega}(1 \otimes b')|_{H_{\nu}} \quad \text{and} \quad \Omega_{\nu} := \Omega_{\omega} \quad (4)$$

for all $b' \in B'$, gives a second cyclic representation $(H_{\nu}, \pi_{\nu'}, \Omega_{\nu})$ of (B', ν') . In particular, H_{μ} and H_{ν} are subspaces of H_{ω} .

We can define a unitary equivalence

$$u_{\nu}:G_{\nu}\to H_{\nu}$$
 (5)

from $(G_{\nu}, \mathrm{id}_{B'}, \Lambda_{\nu})$ to $(H_{\nu}, \pi_{\nu'}, \Omega_{\nu})$ by

$$u_{\nu}b'\Lambda_{\nu} := \pi_{\nu'}(b')\Omega_{\nu}$$

for all $b' \in B'$. Then

$$\pi_{\nu'}(b') = u_{\nu}b'u_{\nu}^* \tag{6}$$

for all $b' \in B'$. By setting

$$\pi_{\nu}(b) := u_{\nu}bu_{\nu}^* \tag{7}$$

for all $b \in B$, we also obtain a second cyclic representation $(H_{\nu}, \pi_{\nu}, \Omega_{\nu})$ of (B, ν) , which has the property

$$\pi_{\nu}(B)' = \pi_{\nu'}(B')$$

as is easily verified.

Let

$$P_{\nu} \in B(H_{\omega})$$

be the projection of H_{ω} onto H_{ν} .

Proposition 3.1. In terms of the notation above, we have

$$u_{\nu}^* \iota_{H_{\nu}}^* \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1) \iota_{H_{\nu}} u_{\nu} = u_{\nu}^* P_{\nu} \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1) u_{\nu} \in B$$

for all $a \in A$, where $\iota_{H_{\nu}} : H_{\nu} \to H_{\omega}$ is the inclusion map, and $\iota_{H_{\nu}}^* : H_{\omega} \to H_{\nu}$ its adjoint.

Proof. Note that $P_{\nu} = \iota_{H_{\nu}}^*$, so indeed $u_{\nu}^* \iota_{H_{\nu}}^* \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1) \iota_{H_{\nu}} u_{\nu} = u_{\nu}^* P_{\nu} \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1) u_{\nu}$. We now show that this is in B.

For any $b' \in B'$, we have $\pi_{\omega}(1 \otimes b')H_{\nu}^{\perp} \subset H_{\nu}^{\perp}$, since $\pi_{\omega}(1 \otimes b'^{*})H_{\nu} \subset H_{\nu}$. It follows that $P_{\nu}\pi_{\omega}(1 \otimes b') = \pi_{\omega}(1 \otimes b')P_{\nu}$. Therefore,

$$P_{\nu}\pi_{\omega}(a\otimes 1)|_{H_{\nu}}\pi_{\nu'}(b') = P_{\nu}\pi_{\omega}(a\otimes 1)\pi_{\omega}(1\otimes b')|_{H_{\nu}}$$

$$= P_{\nu}\pi_{\omega}(1\otimes b')\pi_{\omega}(a\otimes 1)|_{H_{\nu}}$$

$$= \pi_{\omega}(1\otimes b')P_{\nu}\pi_{\omega}(a\otimes 1)|_{H_{\nu}}$$

$$= \pi_{\nu'}(b')P_{\nu}\pi_{\omega}(a\otimes 1)|_{H_{\nu}}$$

for all $a \in A$ and $b' \in B'$. So $P_{\nu}\pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1)|_{H_{\nu}} \in \pi_{\nu'}(B')' = \pi_{\nu}(B)$. Hence $u_{\nu}^*P_{\nu}\pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1)u_{\nu} \in B$ by Eq. (7).

This proposition proves part of the following result, which defines the central object of this section, namely the map $E_{\omega}: A \to B$.

Theorem 3.2. In terms of the notation above, we have the following well-defined linear map

$$E_{\omega}: A \to B: a \mapsto u_{\nu}^* \iota_{H_{\nu}}^* \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1) \iota_{H_{\nu}} u_{\nu} \tag{8}$$

which is normal and completely positive. It has the following properties:

$$E_{\omega}(1) = 1$$

$$||E_{\omega}|| = 1$$

$$\nu \circ E_{\omega} = \mu$$
(9)

Proof. The map $a \mapsto \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1)$ is completely positive, since it is a *-homomorphism. Therefore, E_{ω} is completely positive, as it is the composition of the completely positive maps $a \mapsto \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1)$, $\iota_{H_{\nu}}^*(\cdot)\iota_{H_{\nu}}$ and $u_{\nu}^*(\cdot)u_{\nu}$.

From Eq. (8), we have $E_{\omega}(1) = u_{\nu}^* \iota_{H_{\nu}}^* \iota_{H_{\nu}} u_{\nu} = 1$ as well as $||E_{\omega}|| \le 1$, thus it follows that $||E_{\omega}|| = 1$. Furthermore,

$$\nu \circ E_{\omega}(a) = \langle \Lambda_{\nu}, E_{\omega}(a) \Lambda_{\nu} \rangle = \langle \Omega_{\omega}, \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1) \Omega_{\omega} \rangle = \omega(a \otimes 1) = \mu(a)$$

for all $a \in A$.

Lastly, Kadison's inequality, $E_{\omega}(a)^* E_{\omega}(a) \leq E_{\omega}(a^*a)$, holds, since E_{ω} is a completely positive contraction, so $\nu(E_{\omega}(a)^* E_{\omega}(a)) \leq \nu(E_{\omega}(a^*a)) = \mu(a^*a)$, for all $a \in A$. Hence, E_{ω} is normal, due to Theorem 2.3.

Remark 3.3. The map $a \mapsto \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1)$ itself can also be shown to be normal (see for example the proof of [11, Theorem 3.3]).

We proceed by discussing some further general properties of E_{ω} which will be useful for us later.

The map E_{ω} is closely related to the diagonal coupling of ν with itself, which we now define: Let

$$\varpi_B: B \odot B' \to B(G_\nu)$$

be the unital *-homomorphism defined by extending $\varpi_B(b \otimes b') = bb'$ via the universal property of tensor products. Here $B(G_{\nu})$ is the von Neumann algebra of all bounded linear operators $G_{\nu} \to G_{\nu}$. Now set

$$\delta_{\nu}(d) = \langle \Lambda_{\nu}, \varpi_{B}(d) \Lambda_{\nu} \rangle \tag{10}$$

for all $d \in B \odot B'$. Then δ_{ν} is a coupling of ν with itself, which we call the diagonal coupling for ν . In terms of this coupling, we have the following characterization of E_{ω} which will often be used:

Proposition 3.4. The map E_{ω} is the unique function from A to B such that

$$\omega(a \otimes b') = \delta_{\nu}(E_{\omega}(a) \otimes b')$$

for all $a \in A$ and $b' \in B'$.

Proof. We simply calculate:

$$\delta_{\nu}(E_{\omega}(a) \otimes b') = \langle \Lambda_{\nu}, E_{\omega}(a)b'\Lambda_{\nu} \rangle = \langle \Lambda_{\nu}, u_{\nu}^{*}P_{\nu}\pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1)u_{\nu}b'\Lambda_{\nu} \rangle$$
$$= \langle P_{\nu}\Omega_{\nu}, \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1)\pi_{\nu'}(b')\Omega_{\nu} \rangle$$
$$= \langle \Omega_{\nu}, \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes b')\Omega_{\nu} \rangle = \omega(a \otimes b')$$

for all $a \in A$ and $b' \in B'$. Secondly, suppose that for some $b_1, b_2 \in B$, we have $\delta_{\nu}(b_1 \otimes b') = \delta_{\nu}(b_2 \otimes b')$ for all $b' \in B'$. Then $\langle b_1^* \Lambda_{\nu}, b' \Lambda_{\nu} \rangle = \langle b_2^* \Lambda_{\nu}, b' \Lambda_{\nu} \rangle$ for all $b' \in B'$, so $b_1^* \Lambda_{\nu} = b_2^* \Lambda_{\nu}$, since $B' \Lambda_{\nu}$ is dense in G_{ν} . But Λ_{ν} is separating for B, hence $b_1 = b_2$. Therefore, E_{ω} is indeed the unique function as stated. \square

This has four simple corollaries:

Corollary 3.5. If ω_1 and ω_2 are both couplings of μ and ν , then $\omega_1 = \omega_2$ if and only if $E_{\omega_1} = E_{\omega_2}$.

Corollary 3.6. The map E_{ω} is faithful in the sense that if $E_{\omega}(a^*a) = 0$, then a = 0.

Proof. If $E_{\omega}(a^*a) = 0$, then $\mu(a^*a) = \omega((a^*a) \otimes 1) = \delta_{\nu}(E_{\omega}(a^*a) \otimes 1) = 0$, but μ is faithful, hence a = 0.

The latter also follows from Theorem 2.5(b) and $E''_{\omega} = E_{\omega}$.

The next corollary is relevant when we consider cases of trivial balance, i.e., balance with respect to $\mu \odot \nu'$, and will be applied toward the end of the next section, in relation to ergodicity:

Corollary 3.7. Let ω be a coupling of (A, μ) and (B, ν) . If $\omega = \mu \odot \nu'$, then $E_{\omega}(a) = \mu(a)1_B$ for all $a \in A$. Conversely, if $E_{\omega}(A) = \mathbb{C}1_B$, then $\omega = \mu \odot \nu'$.

Proof. If $\omega = \mu \odot \nu'$, then $E_{\omega}(a) = \mu(a)1_B$ follows from Proposition 3.4. Conversely, again using Proposition 3.4, if $E_{\omega}(A) = \mathbb{C}1_B$, then $\omega(a \otimes b')1_B = \delta_{\nu}(E_{\omega}(a) \otimes b')1_B = E_{\omega}(a)\delta_{\nu}(1 \otimes b') = E_{\omega}(a)\nu'(b')$. In particular, setting b' = 1, $E_{\omega}(a) = \mu(a)1_B$, so $\omega = \mu \odot \nu'$.

Corollary 3.8. We have $\omega = \delta_{\nu}$ if and only if $E_{\omega} = id_{B}$.

Next we point out that u.c.p. maps from A to B with specific additional properties can be used to define couplings:

Proposition 3.9. Let μ and ν be faithful normal states on the von Neumann algebras A and B, respectively. Consider a linear map $E: A \to B$ and define a linear functional $\omega_E: A \odot B' \to \mathbb{C}$ by

$$\omega_E := \delta_{\nu} \circ (E \odot \mathrm{id}_{B'}),$$

i.e.,

$$\omega_E(a \otimes b') = \delta_{\nu}(E(a) \otimes b')$$

for all $a \in A$ and $b \in B'$. Then ω_E is a coupling of μ and ν if and only if E is completely positive, unital and $\nu \circ E = \mu$. In this case $E = E_{\omega_E}$.

Proof. Consider a completely positive linear map $E:A\to B$. Then $E\odot \mathrm{id}_{B'}$ is positive, so ω_E is positive, since δ_{ν} is. If we furthermore assume that E is unital, then $\omega_E(1\otimes 1)=1$, so ω_E is a state. Assuming in addition that $\nu\circ E=\mu$, we conclude that $\omega_E(a\otimes 1)=\nu(E(a))=\mu(a)$ and $\omega_E(1\otimes b')=\nu'(b')$, so ω_E is indeed a coupling of μ and ν . Because of Proposition 3.4, we necessarily have $E=E_{\omega_E}$. The converse is covered by Theorem 3.2 and Proposition 3.4.

So in effect we can define couplings as maps E of the form described in this proposition.

Lastly we study the dual E'_{ω} of E_{ω} , given by Theorem 2.5. Given a coupling ω of μ and ν , we define

$$\omega' := \delta_{\mu'} \circ (E'_{\omega} \odot \mathrm{id}_A) : B' \odot A \to \mathbb{C}$$

where $\delta_{\mu'}(d') := \langle \Lambda_{\mu}, \varpi_{A'}(d') \Lambda_{\mu} \rangle$ for all $d' \in A' \odot A$, i.e., $\delta_{\mu'}(a' \otimes a) = \langle \Lambda_{\mu}, a'a\Lambda_{\mu} \rangle$. Since E'_{ω} is a u.c.p. map, it then follows, using Theorem 2.5, Propositions 3.9 and 3.4, that ω' is a coupling of ν' and μ' such that

$$\omega'(b'\otimes a) = \omega(a\otimes b') \tag{11}$$

for all $a \in A$ and $b' \in B'$.

Proposition 3.10. In terms of the above notation, we have

$$E'_{\omega} = E_{\omega'} : B' \to A'$$

and

$$E_{\omega'}(b') = u_{\mu}^* \iota_{H_{\mu}}^* \pi_{\omega}(1 \otimes b') \iota_{H_{\mu}} u_{\mu}$$

for all $b' \in B'$, where $u_{\mu} : G_{\mu} \to H_{\mu}$ is the unitary operator defined by

$$u_{\mu}a\Lambda_{\mu} := \pi_{\mu}(a)\Omega_{\mu}$$

for all $a \in A$, $\iota_{H_{\mu}} : H_{\mu} \to H_{\omega}$ is the inclusion map, and $\iota_{H_{\mu}}^* : H_{\omega} \to H_{\mu}$ its adjoint.

Proof. That $E'_{\omega} = E_{\omega'}$, follows from the definition of ω' and Proposition 3.4 applied to ω' and $\delta_{\mu'}$ instead of ω and δ_{ν} .

Note that u_{μ} is defined in perfect analogy to u_{ν} in Eq. (5): As the cyclic representation of $(B' \odot A, \omega')$ we can use $(H_{\omega}, \pi_{\omega'}, \Omega_{\omega})$ with $\pi_{\omega'}$ defined via

$$\pi_{\omega'}(b'\otimes a):=\pi_{\omega}(a\otimes b')$$

(and the universal property of tensor products) for all $b' \in B'$ and $a \in A$. Then, referring to the form of Eq. (4), we see that in the place of $(H_{\nu}, \pi_{\nu'}, \Omega_{\nu})$ we have $(H_{\mu}, \pi_{\mu}, \Omega_{\mu})$, as we would expect, since $\overline{\pi_{\omega'}(1 \otimes A)\Omega_{\omega}} = \overline{\pi_{\omega}(A \otimes 1)\Omega_{\omega}} = H_{\mu}$, $\pi_{\omega'}(1 \otimes a)|_{H_{\mu}} = \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1)|_{H_{\mu}} = \pi_{\mu}(a)$ and $\Omega_{\mu} = \Omega_{\omega}$ for all $a \in A$.

So u_{μ} plays the same role for $E_{\omega'}$ as u_{ν} does for E_{ω} , i.e., by definition (see Theorem 3.2)

$$E_{\omega'}(b') = u_{\mu}^* \iota_{H_{\mu}}^* \pi_{\omega'}(b' \otimes 1) \iota_{H_{\mu}} u_{\mu} = u_{\mu}^* \iota_{H_{\mu}}^* \pi_{\omega}(1 \otimes b') \iota_{H_{\mu}} u_{\mu}$$
 for all $b' \in B'$.

We are now in a position to apply E_{ω} to balance in subsequent sections. Also see Sect. 8 for brief remarks on how E_{ω} may be related to ideas from quantum information.

4. A Characterization of Balance

In this section, we derive a characterization of balance in terms of the map E_{ω} from the previous section, and consider some of its consequences, including a condition for symmetry of balance in terms of KMS-symmetry. This gives insight into the meaning and possible applications of balance. We continue with the notation from Sect. 3.

The dynamics α of a system **A** can be represented by a contraction U on H_{μ} defined as the unique extension of

$$U\pi_{\mu}(a)\Omega_{\mu} := \pi_{\mu}(\alpha(a))\Omega_{\mu} \tag{12}$$

for $a \in A$. Note that U is indeed a contraction, since from Kadison's inequality mentioned in Sect. 2, we have $\mu(\alpha(a)^*\alpha(a)) \leq \mu(a^*a)$. (It is also simple to check from the definition of the dual system that U^* is the corresponding representation of α' on H_{μ} .) Similarly,

$$V\pi_{\nu}(b)\Omega_{\nu} := \pi_{\nu}(\beta(b))\Omega_{\nu}$$

for all $b \in B$, to represent β on H_{ν} by the contraction V.

Also set

$$P_{\omega} := P_{\nu}|_{H_{\mu}} : H_{\mu} \to H_{\nu},$$
 (13)

where P_{ν} is again the projection of H_{ω} onto H_{ν} . Note that from Eqs. (8) and (7) it follows that

$$P_{\omega}\pi_{\mu}(a)\Omega_{\mu} = \pi_{\nu}(E_{\omega}(a))\Omega_{\nu} \tag{14}$$

for all $a \in A$, so P_{ω} is a Hilbert space representation of E_{ω} .

The characterization of balance in terms of E_{ω} is the following:

Theorem 4.1. For systems A and B, let ω be a coupling of μ and ν . Then $A\omega B$, i.e., A and B are in balance with respect to ω , if and only if

$$E_{\omega} \circ \alpha = \beta \circ E_{\omega}$$

holds, or equivalently, if and only if $P_{\omega}U = VP_{\omega}$.

Proof. We prove it on Hilbert space level. Note that P_{ω} as defined in Eq. (13) is the unique function $H_{\mu} \to H_{\nu}$ such that $\langle P_{\omega} x, y \rangle = \langle x, y \rangle$ for all $x \in H_{\mu}$ and $y \in H_{\nu}$. (This is a Hilbert space version of Proposition 3.4, but it follows directly from the definition of P_{ω} .)

Assume that **A** and **B** are in balance with respect to ω . Then, for $x = \pi_{\mu}(a)\Omega_{\omega} \in H_{\mu}$ and $y = \pi_{\nu'}(b')\Omega_{\omega} \in H_{\nu}$, where $a \in A$ and $b' \in B'$,

$$\langle P_{\omega}Ux, y \rangle = \langle Ux, y \rangle = \langle \pi_{\omega}(\alpha(a) \otimes 1)\Omega_{\omega}, \pi_{\omega}(1 \otimes b')\Omega_{\omega} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \Omega_{\omega}, \pi_{\omega}(\alpha(a^*) \otimes b')\Omega_{\omega} \rangle = \omega(\alpha(a^*) \otimes b')$$

$$= \omega(a^* \otimes \beta'(b')) = \langle \pi_{\omega}(a \otimes 1)\Omega_{\omega}, \pi_{\omega}(1 \otimes \beta'(b'))\Omega_{\omega} \rangle$$

$$= \langle x, V^*y \rangle = \langle P_{\omega}x, V^*y \rangle = \langle VP_{\omega}x, y \rangle$$

which implies that $P_{\omega}U = VP_{\omega}$. Therefore, using Eqs. (8), (3) and (7), and since $u_{\nu}\Lambda_{\nu} = \Omega_{\omega}$,

$$\begin{split} E_{\omega} \circ \alpha(a) \Lambda_{\nu} &= u_{\nu}^* P_{\omega} \pi_{\mu}(\alpha(a)) \Omega_{\omega} = u_{\nu}^* P_{\omega} U \pi_{\mu}(a) \Omega_{\omega} \\ &= u_{\nu}^* V P_{\omega} \pi_{\mu}(a) \Omega_{\omega} = u_{\nu}^* V u_{\nu} E_{\omega}(a) u_{\nu}^* \Omega_{\omega} \\ &= u_{\nu}^* V \pi_{\nu}(E_{\omega}(a)) \Omega_{\omega} = u_{\nu}^* \pi_{\nu}(\beta \circ E_{\omega}(a)) \Omega_{\omega} \\ &= \beta \circ E_{\omega}(a) \Lambda_{\nu} \end{split}$$

but since Λ_{ν} is separating for B, this means that $E_{\omega} \circ \alpha(a) = \beta \circ E_{\omega}(a)$. Conversely, if $E_{\omega} \circ \alpha = \beta \circ E_{\omega}$, then by Eq. (14),

$$P_{\omega}U\pi_{\mu}(a)\Omega_{\mu} = P_{\omega}\pi_{\mu}(\alpha(a))\Omega_{\omega} = \pi_{\nu}(E_{\omega}(\alpha(a)))\Omega_{\omega}$$
$$= \pi_{\nu}(\beta \circ E_{\omega}(a))\Omega_{\omega} = V\pi_{\nu}(E_{\omega}(a))\Omega_{\omega}$$
$$= VP_{\omega}\pi_{\mu}(a)\Omega_{\mu}$$

so $P_{\omega}U = VP_{\omega}$. Therefore, similar to the beginning of this proof,

$$\omega(\alpha(a^*) \otimes b') = \langle P_{\omega}Ux, y \rangle = \langle VP_{\omega}x, y \rangle = \omega(a^* \otimes \beta'(b'))$$

for all $a \in A$ and $b' \in B'$, as required.

Remark 4.2. This theorem can be compared to the case of joinings in [11, Theorems 4.1 and 4.3]. Keep in mind that in [11] the dynamics of systems are given by *-automorphisms, and secondly an additional assumption is made involving the modular groups (see Remark 2.12). The u.c.p. map obtained in [11] from a joining then also intertwines the modular groups, not just the dynamics. See [10] for closely related results.

Remark 4.3. From Theorem 4.1 one starts to see some aspects of the meaning of balance. In particular, it can be seen from $E_{\omega} \circ \alpha = \beta \circ E_{\omega}$ that part of the dynamics of **B**, more precisely the restriction $\beta|_{E_{\omega}(A)} : E_{\omega}(A) \to E_{\omega}(A)$ to the space $E_{\omega}(A)$, is given by the dynamics of **A**, via E_{ω} .

Furthermore, regarding the condition $P_{\omega}U = VP_{\omega}$, we can point the reader to the papers [26,52,54], which show how the asymptotic properties of contractions on Hilbert spaces (one of the most well-studied topics in operator theory) could be used to obtain mixing and ergodic properties of the completely positive maps that these contractions implement spatially. This hints at the importance of balance in ergodic theory, in particular with regard to ergodic properties which are at least partially shared by two semigroups that are in balance.

A natural question is whether or not balance is symmetric. That is, are $\bf A$ and $\bf B$ in balance with respect to ω if and only if $\bf B$ and $\bf A$ are in balance with respect to some coupling (related in some way to ω)? Below we derive balance conditions equivalent to $\bf A\omega B$, but where (duals of) the systems $\bf A$ and $\bf B$ appear in the opposite order. This is then used to find conditions under which balance is symmetric.

As before, let

$$j_{\mu}: B(G_{\mu}) \to B(G_{\mu}): a \mapsto J_{\mu}a^*J_{\mu},$$

where as in the previous section we assume that (A, μ) is in the cyclic representation $(G_{\mu}, \mathrm{id}_A, \Lambda_{\mu})$ and J_{μ} is the corresponding modular conjugation. Similarly, for j_{ν} .

Given a coupling ω of μ and ν , this allows us to define

$$\omega^{\sigma} := \delta_{\mu} \circ (E_{\omega}^{\sigma} \odot id_{A'}) : B \odot A' \to \mathbb{C},$$

where

$$E^{\sigma}_{\omega} := j_{\mu} \circ E'_{\omega} \circ j_{\nu} : B \to A$$

is the KMS-dual of E_{ω} as in Definition 2.9, and $\delta_{\mu}(d) := \langle \Lambda_{\mu}, \varpi_{A}(d) \Lambda_{\mu} \rangle$ for all $d \in A \odot A'$, i.e., $\delta_{\mu}(a \otimes a') = \langle \Lambda_{\mu}, aa' \Lambda_{\mu} \rangle$. Since j_{μ} is a anti-*-automorphism, the conjugate linear map $j_{\mu}^{*} : B(G_{\mu}) \to B(G_{\mu})$ obtained by composing j_{μ} with the involution, i.e.,

$$j_{\mu}^{*}(a) := j_{\mu}(a^{*})$$

for all $a \in B(G_{\mu})$, is completely positive in the sense that if it is applied entrywise to elements of the matrix algebra $M_n(A)$, then it maps positive elements to positive elements for every n, just like complete positivity of linear maps. It follows that $E_{\omega}^{\sigma} = j_{\mu}^* \circ E_{\omega}' \circ j_{\nu}^*$ is a u.c.p. map, since E_{ω}' is. Consequently, since $\mu \circ E_{\omega}^{\sigma} = \mu' \circ E_{\omega}' \circ j_{\nu} = \nu' \circ j_{\nu} = \nu$, it follows from Proposition 3.9 that ω^{σ} is a coupling of ν and μ . It is then also clear that

$$E_{\omega^{\sigma}} = E_{\omega}^{\sigma} \tag{15}$$

by applying Proposition 3.4.

The KMS-dual of α is given by

$$\alpha^{\sigma} = j_{\mu} \circ \alpha' \circ j_{\mu} \tag{16}$$

and similarly for β . This means that

$$\langle \Lambda_{\mu}, a_1 j_{\mu}(\alpha^{\sigma}(a_2)) \Lambda_{\mu} \rangle = \langle \Lambda_{\mu}, \alpha(a_1) j_{\mu}(a_2) \Lambda_{\mu} \rangle$$

for all $a_1, a_2 \in A$, which corresponds to the definition of the KMS-dual given in [29, Section 2], in connection with quantum detailed balance. (In [29], however, the KMS-dual is indicated by a prime rather than the symbol σ .) Also see [53,56, Proposition 8.3]. In the latter the KMS-dual is defined in terms of the modular conjugation as well, as is done above, rather than just in terms of an analytic continuation of the modular group, as is often done in other sources (including [29]).

Proposition 4.4. In terms of the notation above,

$$\mathbf{A}^{\sigma} := (A, \alpha^{\sigma}, \mu)$$

is a system, called the KMS-dual of A.

Proof. Simply note that α^{σ} is indeed a u.c.p. map (by the same argument as for E^{σ}_{ω} above) such that $\mu \circ \alpha^{\sigma} = \mu' \circ \alpha' \circ j_{\mu} = \mu' \circ j_{\mu} = \mu$.

Remark 4.5. For a QMS $(\alpha_t)_{t\geq 0}$ with the σ -weak continuity property as in Remark 2.6, we again have that the same σ -weak continuity property holds for $(\alpha_t^{\sigma})_{t\geq 0}$ as well, where $\alpha_t^{\sigma} := (\alpha_t)^{\sigma}$ for every t. This follows from the corresponding property of $(\alpha_t')_{t\geq 0}$.

In terms of this notation, we have the following consequence of Theorem 4.1:

Corollary 4.6. For systems **A** and **B**, let ω be a coupling of μ and ν . Then

$$\mathbf{A}\omega\mathbf{B} \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{B}'\omega'\mathbf{A}' \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{B}^{\sigma}\omega^{\sigma}\mathbf{A}^{\sigma}.$$

Proof. By the definition of the dual of a map in Theorem 2.5 (which tells us that $(E_{\omega} \circ \alpha)' = \alpha' \circ E'_{\omega}$, etc.), as well as Proposition 3.10 and Eqs. (15) and (16), we have

$$E_{\omega} \circ \alpha = \beta \circ E_{\omega} \Leftrightarrow E_{\omega'} \circ \beta' = \alpha' \circ E_{\omega'} \Leftrightarrow E_{\omega^{\sigma}} \circ \beta^{\sigma} = \alpha^{\sigma} \circ E_{\omega^{\sigma}}$$
 which completes the proof by Theorem 4.1.

This is not quite symmetry of balance. However, we say that the system **A** (and also α itself) is *KMS-symmetric* when

$$\alpha^{\sigma} = \alpha \tag{17}$$

holds. If both α and β are KMS-symmetric, then we see that

$$\mathbf{A}\omega\mathbf{B} \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{B}\omega^{\sigma}\mathbf{A}$$

which expresses symmetry of balance in this special case.

KMS-symmetry was studied in [17,38,39], and in [30] it was considered in the context of the structure of generators of norm-continuous quantum Markov semigroups on $B(\mathfrak{H})$ and standard quantum detailed balance conditions.

We have, however, not excluded the possibility that there is some coupling other than ω^{σ} that could be used to show symmetry of balance more generally. This possibility seems unlikely, given how natural the foregoing arguments and constructions are.

We end this section by studying some simple applications of balance that follow from Theorem 4.1 and the facts derived in the previous section.

First we consider *ergodicity* of a system **B**, which we define to mean

$$B^{\beta} := \{ b \in B : \beta(b) = b \} = \mathbb{C}1_B$$
 (18)

in analogy to the case for *-automorphisms instead of u.c.p. maps. This is certainly not the only notion of ergodicity available; see for example [8] for an alternative definition which implies Eq. (18), because of [8, Lemma 2.1]. The definition we give here is, however, convenient to illustrate how balance can be applied: this form of ergodicity can be characterized in terms of balance, similar to how it is done in the theory of joinings (see [22, Theorem 3.3], [23, Theorem 2.1] and [11, Theorem 6.2]), as we now explain.

Definition 4.7. A system **B** is said to be *disjoint* from a system **A** if the only coupling ω with respect to which **A** and **B** (in this order) are in balance, is the trivial coupling $\omega = \mu \odot \nu'$.

П

In the next result, an *identity system* is a system **A** with $\alpha = id_A$.

Proposition 4.8. A system is ergodic if and only if it is disjoint from all identity systems.

Proof. Suppose **B** is ergodic and **A** an identity system. If $\mathbf{A}\omega\mathbf{B}$ for some coupling ω , then $\beta \circ E_{\omega} = E_{\omega}$ by Theorem 4.1. So $E_{\omega}(A) = \mathbb{C}1_B$, since **B** is ergodic. By Corollary 3.7 we conclude that $\omega = \mu \odot \nu'$.

Conversely, suppose that \mathbf{B} is disjoint from all identity systems. Recall that $A:=B^{\beta}$ is a von Neumann algebra (see for example [11, Lemma 6.4] for a proof). Therefore, $\mathbf{A}:=(A,\mathrm{id}_A,\mu)$ is an identity system, where $\mu:=\nu|_A$. Define a coupling of μ and ν by $\omega:=\delta_{\nu}|_{A\odot B'}$ (see Eq. (10)), then from Proposition 3.4 we have $E_{\omega}=\mathrm{id}_A$. So $E_{\omega}\circ\alpha=\mathrm{id}_A=\beta\circ E_{\omega}$, implying that \mathbf{A} and \mathbf{B} are in balance with respect to ω by Theorem 4.1. Hence, by our supposition and Corollary 3.7, $B^{\beta}=E_{\omega}(A)=\mathbb{C}1_B$, which means that \mathbf{B} is ergodic.

It seems plausible that some other ergodic properties can be similarly characterized in terms of balance, but that will not be pursued further in this paper.

Our second application is connected to non-equilibrium statistical mechanics, in particular the convergence of states to steady states. See for example the early papers [35,49,61] on the topic, as well as more recent papers like [27,32,51]. To clarify the connection between these results (which are expressed in terms of continuous time $t \geq 0$) and the result below, we formulate the latter in terms of continuous time as well. Compare it in particular to results in [35, Section 3]. It is an example of how properties of one system can be partially carried over to other systems via balance.

Proposition 4.9. Assume that **A** and **B** are in balance with respect to ω . Suppose that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \varkappa(\alpha_t(a)) = \mu(a)$$

for all normal states \varkappa on A, and all $a \in A$. Then

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \lambda(\beta_t(b)) = \nu(b)$$

for all normal states λ on B, and all $b \in E_{\omega}(A)$.

Proof. Applying Theorem 4.1 and setting $\varkappa := \lambda \circ E_{\omega}$, we have

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \lambda(\beta_t(E_\omega(a))) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \varkappa(\alpha_t(a)) = \mu(a) = \nu(E_\omega(a))$$

for all $a \in A$, by Theorem 3.2.

We expect various results of this sort to be possible, namely where two systems are in balance, and properties of the one then necessarily hold in a weaker form for the other.

Conversely, one can in principle use balance as a way to impose less stringent alternative versions of a given property, by requiring a system to be in balance with another system having the property in question. We expect

that such conditions need not be directly comparable (and strictly weaker) than the property in question. This idea will be discussed further in relation to detailed balance in Sect. 6.

5. Composition of Couplings and Transitivity of Balance

Here we show transitivity of balance: if **A** and **B** are in balance with respect to ω , and **B** and **C** are in balance with respect to ψ , then **A** and **C** are in balance with respect to a certain coupling obtained from ω and ψ , and denoted by $\omega \circ \psi$. The coupling $\omega \circ \psi$ is the composition of ω and ψ , as defined and discussed in detail below. Furthermore, we discuss the connection between couplings and correspondences in the sense of Connes.

Let ω be a coupling of (A, μ) and (B, ν) , and let ψ be a coupling of (B, ν) and (C, ξ) . Note that $E_{\psi} \circ E_{\omega} : A \to C$ is a u.c.p. map such that $\xi \circ E_{\psi} \circ E_{\omega} = \mu$ by Theorem 3.2. Therefore, by Proposition 3.9, setting

$$\omega \circ \psi := \delta_{\varepsilon} \circ ((E_{\psi} \circ E_{\omega}) \odot \mathrm{id}_{C'}), \tag{19}$$

i.e.,

$$\omega \circ \psi(a \otimes c') = \delta_{\xi}(E_{\psi}(E_{\omega}(a)) \otimes c')$$

for all $a \in A$ and $c \in C'$, we obtain a coupling $\omega \circ \psi$ of μ and ξ such that

$$E_{\omega \circ \psi} = E_{\psi} \circ E_{\omega}. \tag{20}$$

This construction forms the foundation for the rest of this section.

We call the coupling $\omega \circ \psi$ the *composition* of the couplings ω and ψ . We can view it as an analog of a construction appearing in the theory of joinings in classical ergodic theory; see for example [37, Definition 6.9].

We can immediately give the main result of this section, namely that we have transitivity of balance in the following sense:

Theorem 5.1. If $\mathbf{A}\omega\mathbf{B}$ and $\mathbf{B}\psi\mathbf{C}$, then $\mathbf{A}(\omega \circ \psi)\mathbf{C}$.

Proof. By Theorem 4.1 we have $E_{\omega} \circ \alpha = \beta \circ E_{\omega}$ and $E_{\psi} \circ \beta = \gamma \circ E_{\psi}$, so

$$E_{\omega \circ \psi} \circ \alpha = E_{\psi} \circ \beta \circ E_{\omega} = \gamma \circ E_{\omega \circ \psi},$$

which again by Theorem 4.1 means that $\mathbf{A}(\omega \circ \psi)\mathbf{C}$.

In order to gain a deeper understanding of the transitivity of balance, we now study properties of the composition of couplings.

Proposition 5.2. The diagonal coupling δ_{ν} in Eq. (10) is the identity for composition of couplings in the sense that $\delta_{\nu} \circ \psi = \psi$ and $\omega \circ \delta_{\nu} = \omega$.

Proof. By Corollary 3.8, $E_{\delta_{\nu}} = \mathrm{id}_{B}$. Hence, from Eq. (20), we obtain $E_{\delta_{\nu} \circ \psi} = E_{\psi} \circ E_{\delta_{\nu}} = E_{\psi}$ and $E_{\omega \circ \delta_{\nu}} = E_{\delta_{\nu}} \circ E_{\omega} = E_{\omega}$, which concludes the proof by Corollary 3.5.

In order to treat further properties of $\omega \circ \psi$ and the connection with the theory of correspondences, we need to set up the relevant notation:

Continuing with the notation in the previous two sections, also assuming (C, ξ) to be in its cyclic representation $(G_{\xi}, \mathrm{id}_C, \Lambda_{\xi})$, and denoting the cyclic representation of $(B \odot C', \psi)$ by $(K_{\psi}, \varphi_{\psi}, \Psi_{\psi})$, it follows that

$$K_{\nu} := \overline{\pi_{\psi}(B \otimes 1)\Psi_{\psi}}, \quad \varphi_{\nu}(b) := \varphi_{\psi}(b \otimes 1)|_{K_{\nu}} \quad \text{and} \quad \Psi_{\nu} := \Psi_{\psi}(b \otimes 1)|_{K_{\nu}}$$

gives a third cyclic representation $(K_{\nu}, \varphi_{\nu}, \Lambda_{\nu})$ of (B, ν) , and that

$$K_{\xi} := \overline{\pi_{\psi}(1 \otimes C')\Psi_{\psi}}, \quad \varphi_{\xi'}(c') := \varphi_{\psi}(1 \otimes c')|_{K_{\xi}} \quad \text{and} \quad \Psi_{\xi} := \Psi_{\psi}$$
 (21)

gives a cyclic representation $(K_{\xi}, \varphi_{\xi'}, \Psi_{\xi})$ of (C', ξ') . Note that to help keep track of where we are, we use the symbol K instead of H for the Hilbert spaces originating from ψ (as opposed to ω), and similarly we use φ instead of π , and Ψ instead of Ω .

We can define a unitary equivalence

$$v_{\nu}: G_{\nu} \to K_{\nu} \tag{22}$$

from $(G_{\nu}, \mathrm{id}_B, \Lambda_{\nu})$ to $(K_{\nu}, \varphi_{\nu}, \Psi_{\nu})$ by

$$v_{\nu}b\Lambda_{\nu} := \varphi_{\nu}(b)\Psi_{\nu}$$

for all $b \in B$. Then

$$\varphi_{\nu}(b) := v_{\nu} b v_{\nu}^*$$

for all $b \in B$.

By Theorem 3.2 we can then define the normal u.c.p. map $E_{\psi'}: C' \to B'$. By Proposition 3.10 this map is the dual E'_{ψ} of E_{ψ} , and we can write it as

$$E'_{\psi}: C' \to B': c' \mapsto v_{\nu}^* \iota_{K_{\nu}}^* \varphi_{\psi}(1 \otimes c') \iota_{K_{\nu}} v_{\nu} = v_{\nu}^* Q_{\nu} \varphi_{\psi}(1 \otimes c') v_{\nu} \tag{23}$$

where Q_{ν} is the projection of K_{ψ} onto K_{ν} , and $Q_{\nu} = \iota_{K_{\nu}}^{*}$ with $\iota_{K_{\nu}} : K_{\nu} \to K_{\psi}$ the inclusion map, in analogy to $P_{\nu} = \iota_{H_{\nu}}^{*}$ in Proposition 3.1.

The coupling $\omega \circ \psi$ can now be expressed in various ways:

Proposition 5.3. The coupling $\omega \circ \psi$ is given by the following formulas:

$$\omega \circ \psi = \delta_{\nu} \circ \left(E_{\omega} \odot E_{\psi}' \right) \tag{24}$$

and

$$\omega \circ \psi = \delta_{\mu} \circ (\mathrm{id}_A \odot (E'_{\omega} \circ E'_{\psi}))$$

in terms of Eq. (10), as well as

$$\omega \circ \psi(a \otimes c') = \psi(E_{\omega}(a) \otimes c') = \omega \left(a \otimes E'_{\psi}(c') \right) \tag{25}$$

and

$$\omega \circ \psi(a \otimes c') = \langle u_{\nu}^* P_{\nu} \pi_{\mu}(a^*) \Omega_{\omega}, v_{\nu}^* Q_{\nu} \varphi_{\xi'}(c') \Psi_{\psi} \rangle$$
 (26)

(in the inner product of the Hilbert space G_{ν}) for all $a \in A$ and $c' \in C'$.

Proof. From Eqs. (19) and (10), and Theorem 2.5, we have

$$\omega \circ \psi(a \otimes c') = \langle \Lambda_{\xi}, E_{\psi}(E_{\omega}(a))c' \Lambda_{\xi} \rangle$$
$$= \langle \Lambda_{\nu}, E_{\omega}(a)E'_{\psi}(c')\Lambda_{\nu} \rangle \tag{27}$$

from which Eq. (24) follows. Continuing with the last expression above, we, respectively, have by Theorem 2.5 that

$$\omega \circ \psi(a \otimes c') = \langle \Lambda_{\mu}, aE'_{\omega} \left(E'_{\psi}(c') \right) \Lambda_{\mu} \rangle$$
$$= \delta_{\mu} \circ \left(id_{A} \odot \left(E'_{\omega} \circ E'_{\psi} \right) \right) (a \otimes c'),$$

by Proposition 3.4 that

$$\omega \circ \psi(a \otimes c') = \omega \left(a \otimes E'_{\psi}(c') \right)$$

and by Proposition 3.10 that

$$\omega \circ \psi(a \otimes c') = \langle \Lambda_{\nu}, E_{\psi'}(c') E_{\omega}(a) \Lambda_{\nu} \rangle$$
$$= \psi'(c' \otimes E_{\omega}(a))$$
$$= \psi(E_{\omega}(a) \otimes c'),$$

where in the second line we again applied Proposition 3.4, while the last line follows from the definition of ψ' , as in Eq. (11).

On Hilbert space level, we again have from Eq. (27) that

$$\omega \circ \psi(a \otimes c') = \langle E_{\omega}(a^*) \Lambda_{\nu}, E'_{\psi}(c') \Lambda_{\nu} \rangle$$

$$= \langle u_{\nu}^* P_{\nu} \pi_{\omega}(a^* \otimes 1) u_{\nu} \Lambda_{\nu}, v_{\nu}^* Q_{\nu} \varphi_{\psi}(1 \otimes c') v_{\nu} \Lambda_{\nu} \rangle$$

$$= \langle u_{\nu}^* P_{\nu} \pi_{\mu}(a^*) \Omega_{\omega}, v_{\nu}^* Q_{\nu} \varphi_{\varepsilon'}(c') \Psi_{\psi} \rangle$$

for all $a \in A$ and $c' \in C'$, using Theorem 3.2 (and Proposition 3.1) as well as Eqs. (23), (3) and (21).

At the end of this section $\omega \circ \psi$ will also be expressed in terms of the theory of relative tensor products of bimodules; see Corollary 5.7.

Next we consider triviality of transitivity, namely when $\omega \circ \psi = \mu \odot \xi'$, in which case we also say that the couplings ω and ψ are *orthogonal*, in analogy to the case of classical joinings [37, Definition 6.9]. We first note the following:

Proposition 5.4. If either $\omega = \mu \odot \nu'$ or $\psi = \nu \odot \xi'$, then $\omega \circ \psi = \mu \odot \xi'$.

Proof. By Proposition 3.4, $E_{\mu \odot \nu'} = \mu(\cdot) 1_B$ and $E_{\nu \odot \xi'} = \nu(\cdot) 1_C$, so $(\mu \odot \nu') \circ \psi(a \otimes c') = \delta_{\xi}(\mu(a) 1_C \otimes c') = \mu(a) \xi'(c')$ and $\omega \circ (\nu \odot \xi') (a \otimes c') = \delta_{\xi}(\nu(E_{\omega}(a)) 1_C \otimes c') = \mu(a) \xi'(c')$ according to Eq. (19) and Theorem 3.2. \square

However, as will be seen by example in Sect. 7.3, in general it is possible that $\omega \circ \psi = \mu \odot \xi'$ even when $\omega \neq \mu \odot \nu'$ and $\psi \neq \nu \odot \xi'$. In order for $\omega \circ \psi \neq \mu \odot \xi'$ to hold, there has to be sufficient "overlap" between ω and ψ . The following makes this precise on Hilbert space level and also explains the use of the term "orthogonal" above:

Proposition 5.5. We have $\omega \circ \psi = \mu \odot \xi'$ if and only if

$$u_{\nu}^*[P_{\nu}H_{\mu}\ominus\mathbb{C}\Omega_{\omega}]\perp v_{\nu}^*[Q_{\nu}K_{\xi}\ominus\mathbb{C}\Psi_{\psi}]$$

in the Hilbert space G_{ν} (see Sect. 3), where P_{ν} and Q_{ν} are the projections of H_{ω} onto H_{ν} and K_{ψ} onto K_{ν} , respectively, and u_{ν} and v_{ν} are the unitaries defined above (see Eqs. (5) and (22)).

Proof. In terms of the projections $P_{\Omega_{\omega}}$ and $Q_{\Psi_{\psi}}$ of H_{ω} and K_{ψ} onto $\mathbb{C}\Omega_{\omega}$ and $\mathbb{C}\Psi_{\psi}$, respectively, we have

$$\langle u_{\nu}^* P_{\Omega_{\omega}} \pi_{\mu}(a^*) \Omega_{\omega}, v_{\nu}^* Q_{\Psi_{\psi}} \varphi_{\xi'}(c') \Psi_{\psi} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \langle \Omega_{\omega}, \pi_{\mu}(a^*) \Omega_{\omega} \rangle u_{\nu}^* \Omega_{\omega}, \langle \Psi_{\psi}, \varphi_{\xi'}(c') \Psi_{\psi} \rangle v_{\nu}^* \Psi_{\psi} \rangle$$

$$= \mu(a) \xi'(c') \langle \Lambda_{\nu}, \Lambda_{\nu} \rangle$$

$$= \mu \odot \xi'(a \otimes c')$$

for all $a \in A$ and $c' \in C'$. In terms of $P := P_{\nu} - P_{\Omega_{\omega}}$ and $Q := Q_{\nu} - Q_{\Psi_{\psi}}$, it then follows from Eq. (26) that

$$\omega \circ \psi(a \otimes c') - \mu \odot \xi'(a \otimes c')
= \langle u_{\nu}^* P \pi_{\mu}(a^*) \Omega_{\omega}, v_{\nu}^* Q \varphi_{\xi'}(c') \Psi_{\psi} \rangle
+ \langle u_{\nu}^* P \pi_{\mu}(a^*) \Omega_{\omega}, v_{\nu}^* Q \Psi_{\psi} \varphi_{\xi'}(c') \Psi_{\psi} \rangle + \langle u_{\nu}^* P \Omega_{\omega} \pi_{\mu}(a^*) \Omega_{\omega}, v_{\nu}^* Q \varphi_{\xi'}(c') \Psi_{\psi} \rangle
= \langle u_{\nu}^* P \pi_{\mu}(a^*) \Omega_{\omega}, v_{\nu}^* Q \varphi_{\xi'}(c') \Psi_{\psi} \rangle.$$

For the last line, we used $u_{\nu}^*PH_{\omega} = G_{\nu} \ominus \mathbb{C}\Lambda_{\nu}$ and $v_{\nu}^*Q_{\Psi_{\psi}}K_{\psi} = \mathbb{C}\Lambda_{\nu}$ to obtain the one term as zero, while the other term is zero, since $v_{\nu}^*QK_{\psi} = G_{\nu} \ominus \mathbb{C}\Lambda_{\nu}$ and $u_{\nu}^*P_{\Omega_{\omega}}H_{\omega} = \mathbb{C}\Lambda_{\nu}$. Therefore, $\omega \circ \psi(a \otimes c') - \mu \odot \xi'(a \otimes c')$ is zero for all $a \in A$ and $c' \in C'$ if and only if $u_{\nu}^*[P_{\nu}H_{\mu} \ominus \mathbb{C}\Omega_{\omega}] \perp v_{\nu}^*[Q_{\nu}K_{\xi} \ominus \mathbb{C}\Psi_{\psi}]$.

To conclude this section, we discuss bimodules and correspondences, the main goal being to show how $\omega \circ \psi$ can be expressed in terms of the relative tensor product of bimodules obtained from ω and ψ . Along the way we get an indication of the connection between couplings and correspondences. Also see [11] for a related discussion of correspondences in the context of joinings.

The theory of correspondences was originally developed by Connes, but never published in full, although it is discussed briefly in his book [18, Appendix V.B]. In short, a *correspondence* from one von Neumann algebra, M, to another, N, is an M-N-bimodule (where the direction from M to N, is the convention used in this paper).

For details on the relative tensor product, see for example [63, Section IX.3] and [31], but also [59] for some of the early work on this topic. We only outline the most pertinent aspects of relative tensor products, and the reader is referred to these sources, in particular [63, Section IX.3], for a more systematic exposition.

As before, let

$$j_{\nu}(b) := J_{\nu}b^*J_{\nu}$$

for all $b \in B(G_{\nu})$, with $J_{\nu}: G_{\nu} \to G_{\nu}$ the modular conjugation associated with (B, Λ_{ν}) . Similarly, with (C, ξ) in its cyclic representation $(G_{\xi}, \mathrm{id}_{C}, \Lambda_{\xi})$, let

$$j_{\xi}(c) := J_{\xi}c^*J_{\xi}$$

for all $c \in B(G_{\xi})$, with $J_{\xi} : G_{\xi} \to G_{\xi}$ the modular conjugation associated with (C, Λ_{ξ}) .

Given a coupling ω of (A, μ) and (B, ν) as at the beginning of this section, we can view $H = H_{\omega}$ as an A-B-bimodule by setting

$$\pi_H(a) := \pi_\omega(a \otimes 1)$$

and

$$\pi'_H(b) := \pi_\omega(1 \otimes j_\nu(b)),$$

and writing

$$axb := \pi_H(a)\pi'_H(b)x$$

for all $a \in A$, $b \in B$, and $x \in H$. As already mentioned in Remark 3.3, π_H is normal, as required for it to give a left A-module, and similarly π'_H gives a normal right action of B on H; again see [11, Theorem 3.3]. When viewing H as the A-B-bimodule thus defined, we also denote it by ${}_AH_B$. This module is therefore an example of a correspondence from A to B.

With ψ a coupling of (B, ν) and (C, ξ) as at the beginning of this section, and $(K_{\psi}, \varphi_{\psi}, \Psi_{\psi})$ the corresponding cyclic representation as before, but now using the notation $K = K_{\psi}$, we analogously obtain the B-C-bimodule ${}_{B}K_{C}$ via π_{K} and π'_{K} given by

$$\pi_K(b) := \varphi_{\psi}(b \otimes 1)$$

and

$$\pi'_K(c) := \varphi_{\psi}(1 \otimes j_{\xi}(c))$$

which enables us to write

$$byc := \pi_K(b)\pi'_K(c)y$$

for all $b \in B$, $c \in C$, and $y \in K$.

Now we form the relative tensor product (see [63, Definition IX.3.16])

$$_{A}X_{C} := H \otimes_{\nu} K$$

with respect to the faithful normal state ν . This is also a Hilbert space (its inner product will be discussed below) and, as the notation on the left suggests, the relative tensor product is itself a A-C-bimodule. This is a special case of [63, Corollary IX.3.18]. The reason it works is that since H is a A-B-bimodule, any element of $\pi_H(A)$ can be viewed as an element of $\mathcal{L}(H_B)$, the space of all bounded (in the usual sense of linear operators on Hilbert spaces) right B-module maps. Similarly, for the right action of C. So ${}_AX_C$ is a correspondence from A to C, which can be viewed as the composition of the correspondences ${}_AH_B$ and ${}_BK_C$.

As one may expect, the actions of A and C on $H \otimes_{\nu} K$ are given by

$$a(x \otimes_{\nu} y)c = (ax) \otimes_{\nu} (yc)$$

for all $a \in A$ and $c \in C$. However, in general this does not hold for all $x \in H$ and $y \in K$. In fact the elementary tensor $x \otimes_{\nu} y$ does not exist for all $x \in H$ and $y \in K$. However, it does work if we restrict either x or y to a certain dense subspace, say $x \in \mathfrak{D}(H,\nu) \subset H$ and $y \in K$. (See below for further details on the space $\mathfrak{D}(H,\nu)$.) We correspondingly use $x \in H$ and $y \in \mathfrak{D}'(K,\nu) \subset K$ if we rather want to restrict y to a dense subspace of K.

In particular, we have $\Omega_{\omega} \in \mathfrak{D}(H, \nu)$ and $\Psi_{\psi} \in \mathfrak{D}'(K, \nu)$, so we set

$$\Omega := \Omega_{\omega} \otimes_{\nu} \Psi_{\psi} \in H \otimes_{\nu} K,$$

which we use to define a state, denoted by $\omega \diamond \psi$, on $A \odot C'$ as follows:

$$\omega \diamond \psi(d) := \langle \Omega, \pi_X(d)\Omega \rangle \tag{28}$$

for all $d \in A \odot C'$, where π_X is the representation of $A \odot C'$ on ${}_AX_C$ given in terms of its bimodule structure by

$$\pi_X(a \otimes c')x := axj_{\xi}(c')$$

for all $x \in {}_{A}X_{C}$. Below we show that $\omega \diamond \psi = \omega \circ \psi$, so we have the composition of couplings expressed in terms of the relative tensor product of bimodules, i.e., in terms of the composition of correspondences.

We first review the inner product of the relative tensor product in more detail, in order to clarify its use below. Write

$$\eta_{\nu}'(b) := j_{\nu}(b)\Lambda_{\nu} = J_{\nu}b^*\Lambda_{\nu} \tag{29}$$

for all $b \in B$.

For every $x \in \mathfrak{D}(H, \nu)$, define the bounded linear operator $L_{\nu}(x) : G_{\nu} \to H$ by setting

$$L_{\nu}(x)\eta_{\nu}'(b) = xb \equiv \pi_{H}'(b)x$$

for all $b \in B$, and uniquely extending to G_{ν} . We note that the space $\mathfrak{D}(H, \nu)$ is defined to ensure that $L_{\nu}(x)$ is indeed bounded:

$$\mathfrak{D}(H,\nu) = \{x \in H : ||xb|| \le k_x ||\eta'_{\nu}(b)|| \text{ for all } b \in B, \text{ for some } k_x \ge 0\}$$

It then follows that $L_{\nu}(x_1)^*L_{\nu}(x_2) \in B$ for all $x_1, x_2 \in \mathfrak{D}(H, \nu)$. The space $H \otimes_{\nu} K$ and its inner product is obtained from a quotient construction such that we have

$$\langle x_1 \otimes_{\nu} y_1, x_2 \otimes_{\nu} y_2 \rangle = \langle y_1, \pi_K(L_{\nu}(x_1)^* L_{\nu}(x_2)) y_2 \rangle_K \tag{30}$$

for $x_1, x_2 \in \mathfrak{D}(H, \nu)$ and $y_1, y_2 \in K$, where for emphasis we have denoted the inner product of K by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_K$. This is the "left" version, but there is also a corresponding "right" version of this formula for the inner product (see [63, Section IX.3]). It can be shown from the definition of $\mathfrak{D}(H, \nu)$, that $\pi_H(a)\pi_\nu(b)\Omega_\omega \in D(H,\nu)$ for all $a \in A$ and $b \in B$, from which in turn, it follows that $\mathfrak{D}(H,\nu)$ is dense in H, and that $\Omega_\omega \in \mathfrak{D}(H,\nu)$. Similarly $D'(K,\nu)$, which is defined analogously, is dense in K.

Vol. 19 (2018)

From this short review of the inner product, we can show that it has the following property:

Proposition 5.6. In $H \otimes_{\nu} K$,

$$\langle a_1 \Omega c_1, a_2 \Omega c_2 \rangle = \psi \left(E_\omega \left(a_1^* a_2 \right) \otimes j_{\xi} \left(c_2 c_1^* \right) \right) \tag{31}$$

for $a_1, a_2 \in A \ and \ c_1, c_2 \in C$.

Proof. Firstly, we obtain a formula for $L_{\nu}(x)$ for elements of the form $x = \pi_H(a)\pi_{\nu}(b)\Omega_{\omega} \in D(H,\nu)$, where $a \in A$ and b. For all $b_1 \in B$ we have

$$L_{\nu}(x)\eta'_{\nu}(b_{1}) = \pi'_{H}(b_{1})\pi_{H}(a)\pi_{\nu}(b)\Omega_{\omega}$$
$$= \pi_{H}(a)\pi_{\nu}(b)\pi_{\nu'}(j_{\nu}(b_{1}))\Omega_{\omega}$$
$$= \pi_{H}(a)\pi_{\nu}(b)u_{\nu}\eta'_{\nu}(b_{1}),$$

by Eqs. (6) and (29), which means that

$$L_{\nu}(\pi_H(a)\pi_{\nu}(b)\Omega_{\omega}) = \pi_H(a)\pi_{\nu}(b)u_{\nu}. \tag{32}$$

Applying the special case $L_{\nu}(\pi_H(a)\Omega_{\omega}) = \pi_H(a)u_{\nu}$ of this formula, for $a_1, a_2 \in A$, we have

$$L_{\nu}(\pi_{H}(a_{1})\Omega_{\omega})^{*}L_{\nu}(\pi_{H}(a_{2})\Omega_{\omega}) = u_{\nu}^{*}P_{\nu}\pi_{H}(a_{1}^{*}a_{2})u_{\nu}$$
$$= E_{\omega}(a_{1}^{*}a_{2}).$$

by Theorem 3.2 and Proposition 3.1. From Eq. (30), we therefore have

$$\langle a_1 \Omega c_1, a_2 \Omega c_2 \rangle = \langle \pi'_K(c_1) \Psi_{\psi}, \pi_K \left(E_{\omega} \left(a_1^* a_2 \right) \right) \pi'_K(c_2) \Psi_{\psi} \rangle_K$$

$$= \langle \Psi_{\psi}, \pi_K \left(E_{\omega} \left(a_1^* a_2 \right) \right) \pi'_K \left(c_2 c_1^* \right) \Psi_{\psi} \rangle_K$$

$$= \langle \Psi_{\psi}, \varphi_{\psi} \left(E_{\omega} \left(a_1^* a_2 \right) \otimes j_{\xi} \left(c_2 c_1^* \right) \right) \Psi_{\psi} \rangle_K$$

$$= \psi \left(E_{\omega} \left(a_1^* a_2 \right) \otimes j_{\xi} \left(c_2 c_1^* \right) \right). \qquad \Box$$

Now we can confirm that Eq. (28) is indeed equivalent to the original definition Eq. (19):

Corollary 5.7. We have

$$\omega \diamond \psi = \omega \circ \psi$$

in terms of the definitions Eqs. (28) and (19).

Proof. From Eq. (28)

$$\omega \diamond \psi(a \otimes c') = \langle \Omega, \pi_X(a \otimes c')\Omega \rangle = \langle \Omega, a\Omega j_{\xi}(c') \rangle$$
$$= \psi(E_{\omega}(a) \otimes c'))$$

by Eq. (31), for all $a \in A$ and $c' \in C'$. By Eq. (25), $\omega \diamond \psi = \omega \circ \psi$.

So we have $\omega \circ \psi$ expressed in terms of the vector $\Omega \in H \otimes_{\nu} K$. Note, however, that in general $H \otimes_{\nu} K$ is not the GNS Hilbert space for the state $\omega \circ \psi$, although the former contains the latter. Consider for example the simple case where $\omega = \mu \odot \nu'$ and $\psi = \nu \odot \xi'$. Then, by Proposition 5.4, $\omega \circ \psi = \mu \odot \xi'$, and the GNS Hilbert space obtained from this state is $G_{\mu} \otimes G_{\xi}$, whereas $H \otimes_{\nu} K = G_{\mu} \otimes G_{\nu} \otimes G_{\xi}$.

When $(A, \mu) = (B, \nu)$ and ω is the diagonal coupling δ_{ν} in Eq. (10), then by [63, Proposition IX.3.19], ${}_{A}X_{C}$ is isomorphic to ${}_{B}K_{C}$, so in this case the correspondence ${}_{A}H_{B}$ acts as an identity from the left. Similarly from the right when ψ is the diagonal coupling. This is the correspondence version of Proposition 5.2.

Lastly, by Eq. (32) we have $L_{\nu}(\Omega_{\omega}) = \iota_{H_{\nu}} u_{\nu}$, and therefore $L_{\nu}(\Omega_{\omega})^* = u_{\nu}^* P_{\nu}$, which by Theorem 3.2 means that

$$E_{\omega}(a) = L_{\nu}(\Omega_{\omega})^* \pi_H(a) L_{\nu}(\Omega_{\omega})$$

for all $a \in A$. This is the form in which E_{ω} has appeared in the theory of correspondences, as a special case of maps of the form $a \mapsto L_{\nu}(x)^* \pi_H(a) L_{\nu}(x)$ for arbitrary $x \in \mathfrak{D}(H, \nu)$; see for example [57, Section 1.2].

6. Balance, Detailed Balance and Non-equilibrium

Our main goal in this section is to suggest how balance can be used to define conditions that generalize detailed balance. We then speculate on how this may be of value in studying non-equilibrium steady states. In order to motivate these generalized conditions, we present a specific instance of how detailed balance can be expressed in terms of balance. We focus on only one form of detailed balance, namely standard quantum detailed balance with respect to a reversing operation, as defined in [30, Definition 3 and Lemma 1] and [29, Definition 1]. This form of detailed balance has only appeared in the literature relatively recently. The origins of quantum detailed balance, on the other hand, are found in papers [6,7,15,45,48].

The basic idea of this section should also apply to properties other than detailed balance conditions, as will be explained.

We begin by noting the following simple fact in terms of the diagonal coupling δ_{μ} (see Eq. (10)):

Proposition 6.1. A system **A** is in balance with itself with respect to the diagonal coupling δ_{μ} , i.e., $\delta_{\mu}(\alpha(a) \otimes a') = \delta_{\mu}(a \otimes \alpha'(a'))$ for all $a \in A$ and $a' \in A'$. Conversely, if two systems **A** and **B**, with $(A, \mu) = (B, \nu)$, are in balance with respect to the diagonal coupling δ_{μ} , then **A** = **B**, i.e., $\alpha = \beta$.

Proof. The first part is simply the definition of the dual (see Definition 2.4 and Theorem 2.5). The second part follows from the uniqueness of the dual, given by Theorem 2.5; alternatively use Theorem 4.1 and Corollary 3.8. \Box

So, if A and B are in balance with respect to the diagonal coupling and one of the systems has some property, then the other system has it as well, since the systems are necessarily the same.

One avenue of investigation is therefore to define generalized versions of a given property by demanding only that a system is in balance with another system with the given property, with respect to a coupling (or set of couplings) other than the diagonal coupling. In particular, we then do not need to assume that the two systems have the same algebra and state.

Vol. 19 (2018)

We demonstrate this idea below for a specific property, namely standard quantum detailed balance with respect to a reversing operation. In order to do so, we discuss this form of detailed balance along with Θ -KMS-duals:

Definition 6.2. Consider a system **A**. A reversing operation for **A** (or for (A, μ)), is a *-antihomomorphism $\Theta : A \to A$ (i.e., Θ is linear, $\Theta(a^*) = \Theta(a)^*$, and $\Theta(a_1a_2) = \Theta(a_2)\Theta(a_1)$) such that $\Theta^2 = \mathrm{id}_A$ and $\mu \circ \Theta = \mu$. Furthermore we define the Θ -KMS-dual

$$\alpha^{\Theta} := \Theta \circ \alpha^{\sigma} \circ \Theta$$

of α in terms of the KMS-dual $\alpha^{\sigma} = j_{\mu} \circ \alpha' \circ j_{\mu}$ in Eq. (16).

The Θ -KMS-dual was introduced in [14] in the context of systems on $B(\mathfrak{H})$, with \mathfrak{H} a separable Hilbert space. There may be a scarcity of examples of reversing operations for general von Neumann algebras, but a standard example for $B(\mathfrak{H})$ is mentioned in Sect. 7.4.

Using the Θ -KMS-dual, we can define the above-mentioned form of detailed balance:

Definition 6.3. A system **A** satisfies standard quantum detailed balance with respect to the reversing operation Θ for (A, μ) , or Θ -sqdb,when $\alpha^{\Theta} = \alpha$.

To complete the picture, we state some straightforward properties related to reversing operations Θ and the Θ -KMS-dual:

Proposition 6.4. Given a reversing operation Θ for \mathbf{A} as in Definition 6.2, we define an anti-unitary operator $\theta: G_{\mu} \to G_{\mu}$ by extending

$$\theta a \Lambda_{\mu} := \Theta(a^*) \Lambda_{\mu}$$

which in particular gives $\theta^2 = 1$ and $\theta \Lambda_{\mu} = \Lambda_{\mu}$. Then

$$\Theta(a) = \theta a^* \theta$$

for all $a \in A$, and consequently Θ is normal. This allows us to define

$$\Theta':A'\to A':a'\mapsto \theta a'^*\theta$$

which is the dual of Θ in the sense that

$$\langle \Lambda_{\mu}, a\Theta'(a')\Lambda_{\mu} \rangle = \langle \Lambda_{\mu}, \Theta(a)a'\Lambda_{\mu} \rangle$$

for all $a \in A$ and $a' \in A'$. We also have

$$\theta J_{\mu} = J_{\mu} \theta$$

from which

$$\alpha^{\Theta} = (\Theta \circ \alpha \circ \Theta)^{\sigma}$$

and

$$(\alpha^{\Theta})^{\Theta} = \alpha$$

follow.

Proof. The first sentence is simple. From the definition of θ and the properties of Θ , $\theta \Lambda_{\mu} = \Lambda_{\mu}$ it follows that

$$\theta a^* \theta b \Lambda_{\mu} = \Theta((a^* \Theta(b^*))^*) \Lambda_{\mu} = \Theta(a) b \Lambda_{\mu}$$

for all $a, b \in A$, so $\Theta(a) = \theta a^* \theta$. Normality (i.e., σ -weak continuity) follows from this and the definition of the σ -weak topology. For $a \in A$ and $a' \in A'$ we now have $a\theta a'\theta = \theta\Theta(a^*)a'\theta = \theta a'\Theta(a^*)\theta = \theta a'\theta a$, hence $\theta a'\theta \in A'$. So Θ' is well-defined, and that it is the dual of Θ follows easily.

Denoting the closure of the operator

$$A\Lambda_{\mu} \to A\Lambda_{\mu} : a\Lambda_{\mu} \mapsto a^*\Lambda_{\mu}$$

by $S_{\mu} = J_{\mu} \Delta_{\mu}^{1/2}$, as usual in Tomita–Takesaki theory, we obtain $S_{\mu} = \theta S_{\mu} \theta = \theta J_{\mu} \theta \theta \Delta_{\mu}^{1/2} \theta$, hence $\theta J_{\mu} \theta = J_{\mu}$ by the uniqueness of polar decomposition, proving $\theta J_{\mu} = J_{\mu} \theta$.

Then by definition

$$\alpha^{\Theta} = \Theta \circ j_{\mu} \circ \alpha' \circ j_{\mu} \circ \Theta = j_{\mu} \circ \Theta' \circ \alpha' \circ \Theta' \circ j_{\mu} = j_{\mu} \circ (\Theta \circ \alpha \circ \Theta)' \circ j_{\mu}$$
$$= (\Theta \circ \alpha \circ \Theta)^{\sigma}$$

follows. So
$$(\alpha^{\Theta})^{\Theta} = \Theta \circ \Theta \circ \alpha \circ \Theta \circ \Theta = \alpha$$
 by Eq. (2).

Returning now to the main goal of this section, it will be convenient for us to express the Θ -KMS dual as a system:

Proposition 6.5. For a reversing operation Θ as in Definition 6.2,

$$\mathbf{A}^\Theta := (A, \alpha^\Theta, \mu)$$

is a system, called the Θ -KMS-dual of \mathbf{A} .

Proof. Recall from Proposition 4.4 that \mathbf{A}^{σ} is a system. Since α^{σ} is u.c.p., it can be checked as in Proposition 4.4 from $\alpha^{\Theta} = \Theta^* \circ \alpha^{\sigma} \circ \Theta^*$, where $\Theta^*(a) := \Theta(a^*)$ for all $a \in A$, that α^{Θ} is u.c.p. as well. From $\mu \circ \Theta = \mu$, we obtain $\mu \circ \alpha^{\Theta} = \mu$.

Remark 6.6. Similar to before, for a QMS $(\alpha_t)_{t\geq 0}$ with the σ -weak continuity property as in Remark 2.6, we have that this continuity property also holds for $(\alpha_t^{\Theta})_{t\geq 0}$, where $\alpha_t^{\Theta} := (\alpha_t)^{\Theta}$ for every t. This follows from the continuity of $(\alpha_t^{\sigma})_{t\geq 0}$ in Remark 4.5, and the fact that Θ is normal (Proposition 6.4).

As a simple corollary of Proposition 6.1 we have:

Corollary 6.7. Let **A** be a system and let Θ be a reversing operation for **A**. Then the following are equivalent:

- (a) **A** satisfies Θ -sqdb.
- (b) **A** and \mathbf{A}^{Θ} are in balance with respect to δ_{μ} .
- (c) \mathbf{A}^{Θ} and \mathbf{A} are in balance with respect to δ_{μ} .

When two systems are in balance, we expect the one system to partially inherit properties of the other. We saw an example of this in Proposition 4.9. As mentioned there, this suggests that for any given property that a system may have, we can in principle consider generalized forms of the property via balance. In particular, for Θ -sqdb:

• We can consider systems **A** and **B** which are in balance with respect to a coupling ω (or a set of couplings) other than $\mu \odot \nu'$, but not necessarily with respect to δ_{μ} . Assuming that either **A** or **B** satisfies Θ -sqdb, for some reversing operation Θ for **A** or **B**, respectively, the other system can then be viewed as satisfying a generalized version of Θ -sqdb.

A second possible way of obtaining conditions generalizing Θ -sqdb for a system **A**, is simply to adapt Corollary 6.7 more directly:

• We can require \mathbf{A} and \mathbf{A}^{Θ} to be in balance with respect to some coupling ω (or a set of couplings) other than $\mu \odot \mu'$, but not necessarily with respect to δ_{μ} . Or \mathbf{A}^{Θ} and \mathbf{A} to be in balance with respect to some coupling ω (or a set of couplings) other than $\mu \odot \mu'$, but not necessarily with respect to δ_{μ} .

Under KMS-symmetry (see Eq. (17)), the two options in the second condition, namely \mathbf{A} and \mathbf{A}^{Θ} in balance, versus \mathbf{A}^{Θ} and \mathbf{A} in balance, are equivalent:

Proposition 6.8. If the system **A** is KMS-symmetric, then $\mathbf{A}\omega\mathbf{A}^{\Theta}$ if and only if $\mathbf{A}^{\Theta}\omega_{E}\mathbf{A}$, where $E := \Theta \circ E_{\omega} \circ \Theta$. (See Proposition 3.9 for ω_{E}).

Proof. By KMS-symmetry $\alpha^{\Theta} = \Theta \circ \alpha \circ \Theta$. Note that for any coupling ω we have that $E = \Theta^* \circ E_{\omega} \circ \Theta^*$ is u.c.p. like α^{Θ} in the proof of Proposition 6.5, and $\mu \circ E = \mu$ by Theorem 3.2 and $\mu \circ \Theta = \mu$. Then ω_E is a coupling by Proposition 3.9. From Theorem 4.1 we have

$$\mathbf{A}\omega\mathbf{A}^{\Theta} \Leftrightarrow E_{\omega} \circ \alpha = \Theta \circ \alpha \circ \Theta \circ E_{\omega} \Leftrightarrow E \circ \alpha^{\Theta} = \alpha \circ E \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{A}^{\Theta}\omega_{E}\mathbf{A}. \quad \Box$$

The two types of conditions suggested above will be illustrated by a simple example in the next section, where the conditions obtained will in fact be weaker than Θ -sqdb.

A basic question we now have is the following: can generalized conditions like these be applied to characterize certain non-equilibrium steady states μ which have enough structure that one can successfully analyze them mathematically, while also having physical relevance? This seems plausible, given that these conditions are structurally so closely related to detailed balance itself. We briefly return to this in Sect. 8.

7. An Example

In this section we use a very simple example based on the examples in [2, Section 6], [13], [28, Section 5] and [29, Subsection 7.1] to illustrate some of the ideas discussed in this paper. Our main reason for considering this example

is that it is comparatively easy to manipulate mathematically. We leave a more in depth study of relevant examples for future work.

Let \mathfrak{H} be a separable Hilbert space with total orthonormal set e_1, e_2, e_3, \ldots We are going to consider systems on the von Neumann algebra $B(\mathfrak{H})$. These systems will all have the same faithful normal state ζ on $B(\mathfrak{H})$ given by the diagonal (in the mentioned basis) density matrix

$$\rho = \begin{bmatrix} \rho_1 & & & \\ & \rho_2 & & \\ & & \ddots \end{bmatrix}$$

where $\rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_3, \ldots > 0$ satisfy $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \rho_n = 1$. That is,

$$\zeta(a) = \text{Tr}(\rho a)$$

for all $a \in B(\mathfrak{H})$.

We now briefly explain what the cyclic representation and modular conjugation look like for the state ζ :

The (faithful) cyclic representation of $(B(\mathfrak{H}), \zeta)$ can be written as (H, π, Ω) where $H = \mathfrak{H} \otimes \mathfrak{H}$,

$$\pi(a) = a \otimes 1$$

for all $a \in B(\mathfrak{H})$, and the maximally entangled state (reducing to ρ)

$$\Omega = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sqrt{\rho_n} e_n \otimes e_n$$

is the cyclic vector. Our von Neumann algebra is therefore represented as

$$A = \pi(B(\mathfrak{H})),$$

and the state ζ is represented by the state μ on A given by

$$\mu(\pi(a)) = \zeta(a)$$

for all $a \in A$. However, we also consider a second representation π' given by

$$\pi'(a) = 1 \otimes a$$

for all $a \in B(\mathfrak{H})$, so $A' = \pi'(B(\mathfrak{H}))$. The state μ' on A' is then given by

$$\mu'(\pi'(a)) = \langle \Omega, \pi'(a)\Omega \rangle = \zeta(a)$$

for all $a \in A$.

The modular conjugation J associated with μ (and to ζ) is then obtained as the conjugate linear operator $J: H \to H$ given by

$$J(e_p \otimes e_q) = e_q \otimes e_p$$

for all $p, q = 1, 2, 3, \ldots$ Furthermore,

$$j(\pi(a)) := J\pi(a)^*J = \pi'(a^T)$$
(33)

for all $a \in B(\mathfrak{H})$, where a^T denotes the transpose of a in the basis e_1, e_2, e_3, \ldots

This allows us to apply the general notions from the earlier sections explicitly to this specific case.

Regarding notation: Instead of the notation $|x\rangle\langle y|$ for $x,y\in\mathfrak{H}$, we use $x\bowtie y,$ i.e.,

$$(x \bowtie y)z := x \langle y, z \rangle$$

for all $z \in \mathfrak{H}$.

7.1. The Couplings

We consider couplings of ζ with itself. A coupling of ζ with itself corresponds to a coupling of μ with itself in the cyclic representation, which is a state ω on $A \odot A' = \pi(B(\mathfrak{H})) \odot \pi'(B(\mathfrak{H})) \cong B(\mathfrak{H}) \odot B(\mathfrak{H})$ such that

$$\omega(\pi(a) \otimes 1) = \mu(\pi(a))$$
 and $\omega(1 \otimes \pi'(a)) = \mu'(\pi'(a))$

for all $a \in B(\mathfrak{H})$. However, in this concrete example, it is clearly equivalent, and simpler in terms of notation, to view ω directly as a state on $B(\mathfrak{H}) \odot B(\mathfrak{H})$ such that

$$\omega(a \otimes 1) = \zeta(a) \quad \text{and} \quad \omega(1 \otimes a) = \zeta(a)$$
 (34)

for all $a \in B(\mathfrak{H})$, rather than to work via the cyclic representation.

Consider any disjoint subsets Y_1, Y_2, Y_3, \ldots of $\mathbb{N}_+ := \{1, 2, 3, 4, \ldots\}$ such that $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} Y_n = \mathbb{N}_+$. We construct a coupling ω which is given by a density matrix $\kappa \in B(\mathfrak{H} \otimes \mathfrak{H})$, i.e.,

$$\omega(c) = \text{Tr}(\kappa c)$$

for all $c \in B(\mathfrak{H}) \odot B(\mathfrak{H})$. Therefore, we may as well allow $c \in B(\mathfrak{H} \otimes \mathfrak{H})$, and define ω on the latter algebra, even though our theory only needs it to be defined on the algebraic tensor product $B(\mathfrak{H}) \odot B(\mathfrak{H})$.

We begin by obtaining a positive trace-class operator κ_n corresponding to the set Y_n for every n. Each κ_n will be one of three types, namely a (maximally) entangled type, a mixed type, or a product type, each of which we now discuss in turn for any n.

First, the $entangled\ type$ (corresponding to an entangled pure state): We set

$$\Omega_n = \sum_{q \in Y_n} \sqrt{\rho_q} e_q \otimes e_q$$

and

$$\kappa_n = \Omega_n \bowtie \Omega_n = \sum_{p \in Y_n} \sum_{q \in Y_n} \sqrt{\rho_p \rho_q} (e_p \bowtie e_q) \otimes (e_p \bowtie e_q)$$

for all n. It is straightforward to verify that

$$Tr(\kappa_n) = \sum_{q \in Y_n} \rho_q \tag{35}$$

and

$$\omega_n(a \otimes 1) = \omega_n(1 \otimes a) = \sum_{q \in Y_n} \rho_q \langle e_q, ae_q \rangle$$
 (36)

for all $a \in B(\mathfrak{H})$.

Secondly, the *mixed type* (corresponding to a mixture of pure states): Setting

$$\kappa_n = \sum_{q \in Y_n} \rho_q(e_q \otimes e_q) \bowtie (e_q \otimes e_q) = \sum_{q \in Y_n} \rho_q(e_q \bowtie e_q) \otimes (e_q \bowtie e_q)$$

we again obtain Eqs. (35) and (36).

Thirdly, the *product type*: Setting

$$\kappa_n = d_n \otimes d_n$$

where

$$d_n := \left(\sum_{p \in Y_n} \rho_p\right)^{-1/2} \sum_{q \in Y_n} \rho_q(e_q \bowtie e_q)$$

we yet again obtain Eqs. (35) and (36).

For each type we take

$$\kappa_n = 0$$

if Y_n is empty (this allows for a partition of \mathbb{N}_+ into a finite number of nonempty subsets).

For each n, let κ_n be any of the three types above. Then κ_n is indeed trace-class and positive, so setting

$$\omega_n(c) = \text{Tr}(\kappa_n c) \tag{37}$$

for all $c \in B(\mathfrak{H} \otimes \mathfrak{H})$, we obtain a well-defined positive linear functional ω_n on $B(\mathfrak{H} \otimes \mathfrak{H})$. Then

$$\omega := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \omega_n$$

converges in the norm of $B(\mathfrak{H} \otimes \mathfrak{H})^*$, since $\|\omega_n\| = \omega_n(1) = \operatorname{Tr}(\kappa_n)$, so $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|\omega_n\| = 1$. Correspondingly,

$$\kappa := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \kappa_n \tag{38}$$

converges in the trace-class norm $\|\cdot\|_1$, since $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|\kappa_n\|_1 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{Tr}(\kappa_n) = 1$. Then it indeed follows that

$$\omega(c) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \text{Tr}(\kappa_n c) = \text{Tr}(\kappa c),$$

since $|\sum_{n=1}^{m} \operatorname{Tr}(\kappa_n c) - \operatorname{Tr}(\kappa c)| \leq \|\sum_{n=1}^{m} \kappa_n - \kappa\|_1 \|c\|$. Furthermore $\omega(1) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \omega_n(1) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \rho_n = 1$, and from Eq. (36), it follows that the conditions in Eq. (34) hold. So ω is a coupling of ζ with itself as required.

For $Y_1 = \mathbb{N}_+$, i.e., $\kappa = \kappa_1$, we can get two extremes, namely the diagonal coupling ω if κ_1 is of the entangled type, and the product state $\omega = \zeta \otimes \zeta$ on $B(\mathfrak{H} \otimes \mathfrak{H})$ when κ_1 is of the product type. But the construction above gives many cases other than these two extremes. Then balance with respect to ω is nontrivial, but does not necessarily force two systems $\bf A$ and $\bf B$ on the same algebra A to have the same dynamics as in Proposition 6.1.

7.2. The Dynamics

We now construct dynamics in order to obtain examples of systems on the von Neumann algebra $B(\mathfrak{H})$. Let $r_j \in \{3, 4, 5, \ldots\}$ and $0 < k_j < 1$ for $j = 1, 2, 3, \ldots$, and write $k = (k_1, k_2, k_3, \ldots)$. In terms of the $n \times n$ matrix

$$O_n = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & & & 0 \\ & \ddots & & \vdots \\ & & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

with the blank spaces all being zero, we then define $R_k \in B(\mathfrak{H})$ by the infinite matrix

$$R_k = \begin{bmatrix} k_1^{1/2} O_{r_1} & & \\ & k_2^{1/2} O_{r_2} & \\ & & \ddots \end{bmatrix}$$

in the basis e_1, e_2, e_3, \ldots , where again the blank spaces are zero. In other words, $R_k e_1 = k_1^{1/2} e_2$, etc. So R_k consists of a infinite direct sum of finite cycles, each cycle including its own factor $k_n^{1/2}$. Replacing k by $1-k:=(1-k_1,1-k_2,1-k_3,\ldots)$, we similarly obtain R_{1-k} . In the same basis we consider a self-adjoint operator $g \in B(\mathfrak{H})$ defined by the diagonal matrix

$$g = \begin{bmatrix} g_1 & & \\ & g_2 & \\ & & \ddots \end{bmatrix},$$

with g_1, g_2, g_3, \ldots a bounded sequence in \mathbb{R} . Note that $R_k^* R_k + R_{1-k} R_{1-k}^* = 1$. So we can define the generator \mathcal{K} of a uniformly continuous semigroup $\mathcal{S} = (\mathcal{S}_t)_{t \geq 0}$ in $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{H})$ by

$$\mathcal{K}(a) = R_k^* a R_k + R_{1-k} a R_{1-k}^* - a + i[g, a]$$

for all $a \in B(\mathfrak{H})$. See for example [55, Corollary 30.13]; the original papers on generators for uniformly continuous semigroups are [40,47].

In the same way and still using the same basis, for $l = (l_1, l_2, l_3, ...)$ with $0 < l_j < 1$, we define the generator \mathcal{L} of a second uniformly continuous semigroup $\mathcal{T} = (\mathcal{T}_t)_{t>0}$ in \mathfrak{H} by

$$\mathcal{L}(b) = R_l^* b R_l + R_{1-l} b R_{1-l}^* - b + i[h, b]$$

for all $b \in B(\mathfrak{H})$, where the diagonal matrix

$$h = \begin{bmatrix} h_1 & & & \\ & h_2 & & \\ & & \ddots & \end{bmatrix},$$

with h_1, h_2, h_3, \ldots a bounded sequence in \mathbb{R} , defines a self-adjoint operator $h \in B(\mathfrak{H})$.

In the rest of Sect. 7, we assume the following:

$$\rho_1 = \dots = \rho_{r_1}
\rho_{r_1+1} = \dots = \rho_{r_1+r_2}
\rho_{r_1+r_2+1} = \dots = \rho_{r_1+r_2+r_3}
\vdots$$

Then the state ζ is seen to be invariant under both \mathcal{S} and \mathcal{T} by checking that $\zeta \circ \mathcal{K} = 0$ and $\zeta \circ \mathcal{L} = 0$.

It is going to be simpler (but equivalent) to work directly in terms of $B(\mathfrak{H})$, rather than its cyclic representation. Nevertheless, since much of the theory of this paper is expressed in the cyclic representation, it is worth expressing the various objects in this representation as well. In particular, we can then see how to obtain duals directly in terms of $B(\mathfrak{H})$.

Our two systems **A** and **B**, viewed in the cyclic representation, are in terms of $A = B = \pi(B(\mathfrak{H}))$, with the dynamics given by

$$\alpha_t(\pi(a)) = \pi(\mathcal{S}_t(a))$$

and

$$\beta_t(\pi(b)) = \pi(\mathcal{T}_t(b))$$

and the states μ and ν both given by

$$\mu(\pi(a)) = \nu(\pi(a)) = \zeta(a) = \text{Tr}(\rho a)$$

for all $a, b \in B(\mathfrak{H})$. The diagonal coupling for μ

$$\delta_{\mu}:\pi(B(\mathfrak{H}))\odot\pi'(B(\mathfrak{H}))\to\mathbb{C}$$

is given by

$$\delta_{\mu}(\pi(a) \odot \pi'(b)) = \langle \Omega, \pi(a)\pi'(b)\Omega \rangle = \langle \Omega, (a \otimes b)\Omega \rangle$$
$$= \sum_{p=1}^{\infty} \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} \left\langle e_p, \rho^{1/2} a e_q \right\rangle \left\langle e_q, \rho^{1/2} b^T e_p \right\rangle$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}(\rho^{1/2} a \rho^{1/2} b^T)$$

where $b^T \in B(\mathfrak{H})$ is obtained as the transpose of the matrix representation of b in terms of the basis e_1, e_2, e_3, \ldots In effect δ_{μ} is the maximally entangled state $\langle \Omega, (\cdot)\Omega \rangle$ on $B(\mathfrak{H}) \odot B(\mathfrak{H})$, reducing to $Tr(\rho(\cdot))$ on $B(\mathfrak{H})$.

The dual $\beta'_t : \pi'(B(\mathfrak{H})) \to \pi'(B(\mathfrak{H}))$ of β_t is given by

$$\langle \Omega, \pi(b)\beta_t'(\pi'(b'))\Omega_\zeta \rangle = \langle \Omega, \beta_t(\pi(b))\pi'(b')\Omega \rangle$$

for all $b, b' \in B(\mathfrak{H})$.

We therefore define the dual \mathcal{L}' of \mathcal{L} via the representations by requiring

$$\langle \Omega, \pi(b) \pi'(\mathcal{L}'(b')) \Omega \rangle = \langle \Omega, \pi(\mathcal{L}(b)) \pi'(b') \Omega \rangle$$

for all $b, b' \in B(\mathfrak{H})$, i.e.,

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\rho^{1/2}a\rho^{1/2}(\mathcal{L}'(b))^T) = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho^{1/2}\mathcal{L}(a)\rho^{1/2}b^T)$$

for all $a, b \in B(\mathfrak{H})$. Note that \mathcal{L}' is indeed the dual (with respect to ζ) of \mathcal{L} in the sense of Theorem 2.5, but represented on \mathfrak{H} instead of on the GNS Hilbert space. It is then straightforward to verify that

$$\mathcal{L}'(b) = R_{1-l}^* b R_{1-l} + R_l b R_l^* - b + i[h, b] \tag{39}$$

for all $b \in B(\mathfrak{H})$. From this one can see that \mathcal{L}' is also the generator of a uniformly continuous semigroup $\mathcal{T}' = (\mathcal{T}'_t)_{t>0}$ in \mathfrak{H} , which in addition satisfies

$$\langle \Omega, \pi(b)\pi'(\mathcal{T}'_t(b'))\Omega \rangle = \langle \Omega, \pi(\mathcal{T}_t(b))\pi'(b')\Omega \rangle,$$

and therefore

$$\pi'(\mathcal{T}'_t(b')) = \beta'_t(\pi'(b'))$$

for all $b, b' \in B(\mathfrak{H})$. As with \mathcal{L}' above, \mathcal{T}'_t is the dual of \mathcal{T}_t in the sense of Definition 2.4, but represented on \mathfrak{H} . So we correspondingly call the semigroup \mathcal{T}' the dual of the semigroup \mathcal{T} .

We now have a complete description of the systems, as well as their duals.

7.3. Balance

We now show examples of balance between

$$\mathbf{A} := (B(\mathfrak{H}), \mathcal{S}, \zeta)$$
 and $\mathbf{B} := (B(\mathfrak{H}), \mathcal{T}, \zeta)$

and illustrate a number of points made in this paper. Remember that since we now have a continuous time parameter $t \geq 0$, the balance condition in Definition 2.10 is required to hold at every t. However, it then follows that \mathbf{A} and \mathbf{B} are in balance with respect to ω if and only if

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\kappa(\mathcal{K}(a)\otimes b)) = \operatorname{Tr}(\kappa(a\otimes \mathcal{L}'(b)))$$

for all $a, b \in B(\mathfrak{H})$. From this one can easily check that **A** and **B** are in balance with respect to ω if and only if

$$(R_k \otimes 1)\kappa(R_k \otimes 1)^* + (R_{1-k} \otimes 1)^*\kappa(R_{1-k} \otimes 1) - i[g \otimes 1, \kappa]$$

= $(1 \otimes R_{1-l})\kappa(1 \otimes R_{1-l})^* + (1 \otimes R_l)^*\kappa(1 \otimes R_l) - i[1 \otimes h, \kappa]$

holds. However, equating the real and imaginary parts, respectively, (keeping in mind that κ as given in Sect. 7.1 is a real infinite matrix in the basis $e_p \otimes e_q$), we see that this is equivalent to

$$(R_k \otimes 1)\kappa(R_k \otimes 1)^* + (R_{1-k} \otimes 1)^*\kappa(R_{1-k} \otimes 1)$$

= $(1 \otimes R_{1-l})\kappa(1 \otimes R_{1-l})^* + (1 \otimes R_l)^*\kappa(1 \otimes R_l)$ (40)

and

$$[g \otimes 1, \kappa] = [1 \otimes h, \kappa] \tag{41}$$

both being true.

To proceed, we refine the construction of κ in Sect. 7.1, by only allowing

$$Y_n = \bigcup_{p \in I_n} Z_p$$

where $Z_1 = \{1, 2, \dots, r_1\}$, $Z_2 = \{r_1 + 1, r_1 + 2, \dots, r_1 + r_2\}$, etc., and where I_1, I_2, I_3, \dots is any sequence of disjoint subsets of \mathbb{N}_+ such that $\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}_+} I_n = \mathbb{N}_+$. Note that an I_n is allowed to be empty (then Y_n is empty), and it is also allowed to be infinite.

It then follows that ${\bf A}$ and ${\bf B}$ are in balance with respect to ω if and only if

$$(R_k \otimes 1)\kappa_n(R_k \otimes 1)^* + (R_{1-k} \otimes 1)^*\kappa_n(R_{1-k} \otimes 1)$$

= $(1 \otimes R_{1-l})\kappa_n(1 \otimes R_{1-l})^* + (1 \otimes R_l)^*\kappa_n(1 \otimes R_l)$ (42)

and

$$[g \otimes 1, \kappa_n] = [1 \otimes h, \kappa_n] \tag{43}$$

both hold for every n. To see that Eqs. (42) and (43) follow from Eqs. (40) and (41), respectively, place the latter into $\langle e_p \otimes e_q, (\cdot) e_{p'} \otimes e_{q'} \rangle$ for $p, q, p', q' \in Y_n$. The converse holds, since Eq. (38) is convergent in the trace-class norm.

To evaluate these conditions in detail is somewhat tedious, so we just describe it in outline below.

Note that, roughly speaking, in a term like $(R_k \otimes 1)\kappa_n(R_k \otimes 1)^*$, for κ_n of the entangled or mixed type, the first slot in the tensor product structure of κ_n is advanced by one step in each cycle appearing in R_k . In a term like $(1 \otimes R_l)^*\kappa_n(1 \otimes R_l)$, on the other hand, the second slot is rolled back by one step in each cycle, which is equivalent to the first slot being advanced by one step. So, if κ_n is of the entangled or mixed type, and

$$k_p = l_p \tag{44}$$

for each $p \in I_n$, then Eq. (42) holds.

Conversely, for $p \in I_n$, note from the definitions of the entangled and mixed type κ_n that since $r_p > 2$, the terms $(R_k \otimes 1)\kappa_n(R_k \otimes 1)^*$ and $(1 \otimes R_l)^*\kappa_n(1 \otimes R_l)$ have to be equal (hence $k_p = l_p$), for Eq. (42) to hold; the terms $(R_{1-k} \otimes 1)^*\kappa_n(R_{1-k} \otimes 1)$ and $(1 \otimes R_{1-l})\kappa_n(1 \otimes R_{1-l})^*$ involve other basis elements of $\mathfrak{H} \otimes \mathfrak{H}$ and therefore cannot ensure Eq. (42) when $(R_k \otimes 1)\kappa_n(R_k \otimes 1)^* \neq (1 \otimes R_l)^*\kappa_n(1 \otimes R_l)$.

For the product type κ_n , Eq. (42) always holds, since κ_n then commutes with $R_k \otimes 1$ and $1 \otimes R_l$.

When κ_n is of the entangled type, one can verify by direct calculation that Eq. (43) holds if and only if

$$g_p - g_q = h_p - h_q \tag{45}$$

for all $p, q \in Y_n$. For the other two types of κ_n , Eq. (43) always holds, since then κ_n , $g \otimes 1$ and $1 \otimes h$ are diagonal, so the commutators are zero.

We conclude that **A** and **B** are in balance with respect to ω if and only if the following is true: Eq. (44) holds for all $p \in I_n$ for every n for which κ_n is either of the entangled or mixed type, and Eq. (45) holds for all $p \in I_n$ for every n for which κ_n is of the entangled type.

We now also have an example where the transitivity in Theorem 5.1 is trivial, meaning that $\omega \circ \psi = \mu \odot \xi'$ despite having $\omega \neq \mu \odot \nu'$ and $\psi \neq \nu \odot \xi'$. To see this, let **C** be a system constructed in the same way as **A** and **B**

above, so it has the same von Neumann algebra and state, but the generator giving its dynamics can use different choices in place of k,g and l,h. As above, construct two couplings ω and ψ (giving balance of $\mathbf A$ and $\mathbf B$ with respect to ω , and of $\mathbf B$ and $\mathbf C$ with respect to ψ), but with entangled and mixed types not in overlapping parts of the two couplings, respectively (i.e., the respective Y_n sets corresponding to these two types in the respective couplings should be disjoint), while the rest of each coupling is a κ_n of the product type. Then it can be verified using Proposition 5.5 that we indeed obtain $\omega \circ \psi = \mu \odot \xi'$, despite having $\omega \neq \mu \odot \nu'$ and $\psi \neq \nu \odot \xi'$. This illustrates that to have $\omega \circ \psi \neq \mu \odot \xi'$, we need sufficient "overlap" between ω and ψ , where this overlap condition has been made precise in Hilbert space terms (in the cyclic representations) by Proposition 5.5.

7.4. A Reversing Operation

Here we consider Θ -sqdb in Definition 6.3 and Corollary 6.7, as well as the two generalized detailed balance conditions suggested at the end of Sect. 6. Take Θ to be transposition in the basis e_1, e_2, e_3, \ldots , i.e.,

$$\Theta(a) := a^T$$

for all $a \in B(\mathfrak{H})$. This is the standard choice of a reversing operation for $(B(\mathfrak{H}), \zeta)$, used for example in [29, Section 2]. In the cyclic representation, Θ would be given by $\pi(a) \mapsto \pi(a^T)$. It is readily confirmed from Eq. (33) that in this case the Θ -KMS dual of \mathbf{B} is $\mathbf{B}^{\Theta} = (B(\mathfrak{H}), \mathcal{T}', \zeta)$, i.e., in the cyclic representation we would have $\alpha_t^{\Theta} = \alpha_t'$ for all t.

For the diagonal coupling δ , obtained when κ_1 is of the entangled type with $Y_1 = \mathbb{N}_+$, then from Eqs. (44) and (39) we see that **B** and \mathbf{B}^{Θ} are in balance with respect to δ , i.e., **B** satisfies Θ -sqdb (Corollary 6.7), if and only if $l_p = 1 - l_p$, i.e., $l_p = 1/2$, for all p.

More generally, consider the situation where **B** satisfies Θ -sqdb, and **A** and **B** are in balance with respect to ω . It then follows from Eq. (44) that $k_p = 1/2$ for all p in every I_n such that κ_n is of the entangled or mixed type, but we need not have $k_p = 1/2$ for other values of p. This is therefore a strictly weaker condition on **A** than Θ -sqdb, as long as not all the κ_n are of the entangled or mixed type.

Next consider the situation where **A** and \mathbf{A}^{Θ} are in balance with respect to ω , where again not all the κ_n are of the entangled or mixed type. Then in a similar way we again see that $k_p = 1/2$ for all p in every I_n such that κ_n is of the entangled or mixed type, but we need not have $k_p = 1/2$ for other values of p. So again this is a strictly weaker condition than Θ -sqdb.

This illustrates the two conditions suggested at the end of Sect. 6, albeit in a very simple situation. Here the two conditions are essentially equivalent when applied to A, but we expect this not to be the case in general.

8. Further Work

From Sect. 7.4 we see, in a specific example, that a system **A** in balance with its Θ -KMS dual \mathbf{A}^{Θ} , where Θ is a reversing operation, can possibly be heuristically interpreted as satisfying Θ -sqdb in some respects, since we had $k_p = 1/2$ for some values of p, but not necessarily all. However, this special case does not give a physical interpretation of balance in general.

Theorem 4.1 gives a hint toward a general interpretation, namely that if **A** and **B** are in balance with respect to ω , then the dynamics of system **A** is partially carried over to system **B**. However, a physical interpretation of balance in general can possibly be made more precise.

Now, as seen in particular from Theorem 4.1, balance seems to indicate some common structure in the two involved systems. However, this is a subtle issue. Already in the classical case, in the context of joinings, it has been shown that (translating into our context) two systems can be nontrivially in balance (i.e., the coupling is not the product state), while the two systems have no "factor" (roughly speaking a subsystem) in common. This was a difficult problem in classical ergodic theory posed by Furstenberg [36], and was only solved a decade later by Rudolph [58]. Therefore, we suspect that balance between two systems is more general than the existence of some form of common system inside the two systems. This issue has not been pursued in this paper, but appears worth investigating.

It also seems natural to study joinings directly for systems as defined in Definition 2.1. The idea would be to replace the balance conditions in Definition 2.10, by the joining conditions (possibly adapted slightly) described in Remark 2.12.

In principle, we can view E_{ω} as a quantum channel. It could be of interest to see what the physical significance of this map is, considering the well-known correspondence between completely positive maps and bipartite states in finite dimensions (see [16], but also [19,42] for earlier related work) which is of some importance in quantum information theory. See, for example, [9,43,64]. Some related work has appeared in infinite dimensions for B(H) and $B(H_1, H_2)$ as well [14,41]. Also see [11, Section 1] for further remarks.

Transitivity, via $E_{\psi} \circ E_{\omega}$, appears to be a basic ingredient of the theory of balance, but we have not explored its consequences in this paper. What are the physical implications or applications of transitivity?

In Sect. 6 we only considered standard quantum detailed balance with respect to a reversing operation. It certainly seems relevant to investigate if balance can be successfully used to give generalized forms of other conditions.

Furthermore, if balance can indeed be used to formulate certain types of non-equilibrium steady states, as asked in Sect. 6, then it seems natural to connect this to entanglement and correlated states more generally. Can results on entangled states be applied to a coupling ω of μ and ν to study or classify certain classes of non-equilibrium steady states μ (or ν) of quantum systems? Note that the two extremes are the product state $\omega = \mu \odot \nu'$, which is the bipartite state with no correlations, and the diagonal coupling δ_{μ} of μ with

itself, which can be viewed as the bipartite state which is maximally entangled while having μ and μ' as its reduced states, at least in the situation in Sect. 7.

We have only studied one example in this paper (in Sect. 7). To gain a better understanding of balance, it is important to explore further examples, especially physical examples, in particular, in relation to non-equilibrium.

Lastly we mention the dynamical, weighted, and generalized detailed balance conditions studied in [2,3,5], respectively, along with a local KMS-condition, which was explored further in [4,34]. We suspect that it would be of interest to explore if there are any connections between these, and balance as studied in this paper.

Acknowledgements

We thank V. Crismale, F. Fidaleo, J. M. Lindsay, W. A. Majewski and A. G. Skalski for discussions and remarks related to Sects. 4 and 6 of the paper. We also thank the anonymous referees for suggestions to improve certain points in the exposition. This work was supported by the National Research Foundation of South Africa.

References

- [1] Accardi, L., Cecchini, C.: Conditional expectations in von Neumann algebras and a theorem of Takesaki. J. Funct. Anal. 45, 245–273 (1982)
- [2] Accardi, L., Fagnola, F., Quezada, R.: Weighted detailed balance and local KMS condition for non-equilibrium stationary states. In: Perspective Nonequilibrium Statistical Physics, vol. 97, pp. 318–356. Bussei Kenkyu (2011)
- [3] Accardi, L., Fagnola, F., Quezada, R.: On three new principles in non-equilibrium statistical mechanics and Markov semigroups of weak coupling limit type. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 19, 1650009 (2016)
- [4] Accardi, L., Fidaleo, F.: Bose-Einstein condensation and condensation of q-particles in equilibrium and nonequilibrium thermodynamics. Rep. Math. Phys. 77, 153–182 (2016)
- [5] Accardi, L., Imafuku, K.: Dynamical detailed balance and local KMS condition for non-equilibrium states. Int. J. Mod. Phys. B 18, 435–467 (2004)
- [6] Agarwal, G.S.: Open quantum Markovian systems and the microreversibility. Z. Phys. A Hadrons Nucl. 258, 409–422 (1973)
- [7] Alicki, R.: On the detailed balance condition for non-Hamiltonian systems. Rep. Math. Phys. 10, 249–258 (1976)
- [8] Albeverio, S., Høegh-Krohn, R.: Frobenius theory for positive maps of von Neumann algebras. Commun. Math. Phys. 64, 83–94 (1978)
- [9] Arrighi, P., Patricot, C.: On quantum operations as quantum states. Ann. Phys. **311**, 26–52 (2004)
- [10] Bannon, J.P., Cameron, J., Mukherjee, K.: The modular symmetry of Markov maps. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 439, 701–708 (2016)
- [11] Bannon, J.P., Cameron, J., Mukherjee, K.: On noncommutative joinings. Int. Math. Res. Not. https://doi.org/10.1093/imrn/rnx024

- [12] Blackadar, B.: Operator algebras: theory of C*-algebras and von Neumann algebras. In: Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, vol. 122, Springer, Berlin (2006)
- [13] Bolaños-Servin, J.R., Quezada, R.: A cycle decomposition and entropy production for circulant quantum Markov semigroups. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 16, 1350016 (2013)
- [14] Bolaños-Servin, J.R., Quezada, R.: The Θ-KMS adjoint and time reversed quantum Markov semigroups. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 18, 1550016 (2015)
- [15] Carmichael, H.J., Walls, D.F.: Detailed balance in open quantum Markoffian systems. Z. Phys. B Condens. Matter 23, 299–306 (1976)
- [16] Choi, M.D.: Completely positive linear maps on complex matrices. Linear Algebra Appl. 10, 285–290 (1975)
- [17] Cipriani, F.: Dirichlet forms and Markovian semigroups on standard forms of von Neumann algebras. J. Funct. Anal. 147, 259–300 (1997)
- [18] Connes, A.: Noncommutative Geometry. Academic Press Inc, San Diego, CA (1994)
- [19] de Pillis, J.: Linear transformations which preserve hermitian and positive semidefinite operators. Pac. J. Math. 23, 129–137 (1967)
- [20] Dereziński, J., Fruboes, R.: Fermi golden rule and open quantum systems. In: Attal, S., et al. (eds.) Open Quantum Systems III. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1882, pp. 67–116. Springer, Berlin (2006)
- [21] Dixmier, J.: Von Neumann Algebras. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1981)
- [22] Duvenhage, R.: Joinings of W*-dynamical systems. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 343, 175–181 (2008)
- [23] Duvenhage, R.: Ergodicity and mixing of W*-dynamical systems in terms of joinings. Ill. J. Math. 54, 543–566 (2010)
- [24] Duvenhage, R.: Relatively independent joinings and subsystems of W*dynamical systems. Stud. Math. 209, 21–41 (2012)
- [25] Duvenhage, R., Snyman, M.: Detailed balance and entanglement. J. Phys. A 48, 155303 (2015)
- [26] Duvenhage, R., Ströh, A.: Recurrence and ergodicity in unital *-algebras. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 287, 430–443 (2003)
- [27] Fagnola, F., Rebolledo, R.: Algebraic conditions for convergence of a quantum Markov semigroup to a steady state. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 11, 467–474 (2008)
- [28] Fagnola, F., Rebolledo, R.: From classical to quantum entropy production. In: Ouerdiane, H., Barhoumi, A. (eds) Proceedings of the 29th Conference on Quantum Probability and Related Topics, QP-PQ: Quantum Probability and White Noise Analysis, 25, p. 245. World Scientific, Hackensack, NJ (2010)
- [29] Fagnola, F., Rebolledo, R.: Entropy production for quantum Markov semigroups. Commun. Math. Phys. 335, 547–570 (2015)
- [30] Fagnola, F., Umanità, V.: Generators of KMS symmetric Markov semigroups on B(h) symmetry and quantum detailed balance. Commun. Math. Phys. 298, 523–547 (2010)

- [31] Falcone, T.: L^2 -von Neumann modules, their relative tensor products and the spatial derivative. Ill. J. Math. 44, 407–437 (2000)
- [32] Fellah, D.: Return to thermal equilibrium. Lett. Math. Phys. 80, 101-113 (2007)
- [33] Fidaleo, F.: An ergodic theorem for quantum diagonal measures. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 12, 307–320 (2009)
- [34] Fidaleo, F., Viaggiu, S.: A proposal for the thermodynamics of certain open systems. Physica A 468, 677–690 (2017)
- [35] Frigerio, A.: Stationary states of quantum dynamical semigroups. Commun. Math. Phys. 63, 269–276 (1978)
- [36] Furstenberg, H.: Disjointness in ergodic theory, minimal sets, and a problem in Diophantine approximation. Math. Syst. Theory 1, 1–49 (1967)
- [37] Glasner, E.: Ergodic theory via joinings. In: Mathematical Surveys and Monographs 101. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI (2003)
- [38] Goldstein, S., Lindsay, J.M.: Beurling-Deny conditions for KMS-symmetric dynamical semigroups. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 317, 1053–1057 (1993)
- [39] Goldstein, S., Lindsay, J.M.: KMS-symmetric Markov semigroups. Math. Z. 219, 591–608 (1995)
- [40] Gorini, V., Kossakowski, A., Sudarshan, E.C.G.: Completely positive dynamical semigroups of N-level systems. J. Math. Phys. 17, 821–825 (1976)
- [41] Grabowski, J., Kuś, M., Marmo, G.: On the relation between states and maps in infinite dimensions. Open Syst. Inf. Dyn. 14, 355–370 (2007)
- [42] Jamiołkowski, A.: Linear transformations which preserve trace and positive semidefiniteness of operators. Rep. Math. Phys. 3, 275–278 (1972)
- [43] Jiang, M., Luo, S., Fu, S.: Channel-state duality. Phys. Rev. A 87, 022310 (2013)
- [44] Kerr, D., Li, H., Pichot, M.: Turbulence, representations and trace-preserving actions. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 3(100), 459–484 (2010)
- [45] Kossakowski, A., Frigerio, A., Gorini, V., Verri, M.: Quantum detailed balance and KMS condition. Commun. Math. Phys. 57, 97–110 (1977)
- [46] Kümmerer, B., Schwieger, K.: Diagonal couplings of quantum Markov chains. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 19, 1650012 (2016)
- [47] Lindblad, G.: On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups. Commun. Math. Phys. 48, 119–130 (1976)
- [48] Majewski, W.A.: The detailed balance condition in quantum statistical mechanics. J. Math. Phys. 25, 614–616 (1984)
- [49] Majewski, W.A.: Return to equilibrium and stability of dynamics (semigroup dynamics case). J. Stat. Phys. 55, 417–433 (1989)
- [50] Majewski, W.A., Streater, R.F.: Detailed balance and quantum dynamical maps. J. Phys. A 31, 7981–7995 (1998)
- [51] Majewski, W.A.: Quantum dynamical maps and return to equilibrium. Acta Phys. Polon. B 32, 1467–1474 (2001)
- [52] Niculescu, C.P., Ströh, A., Zsidó, L.: Noncommutative extensions of classical and multiple recurrence theorems. J. Oper. Theory 50, 3–52 (2003)
- [53] Ohya, M., Petz, D.: Quantum entropy and its use. In: Texts and Monographs in Physics. Springer, Berlin (1993)
- [54] Pandiscia, C.: Ergodic dilation of a quantum dynamical system. Confluentes Math. 6, 77–91 (2014)

- [55] Parthasarathy, K.R.: An introduction to quantum stochastic calculus. In: Monographs in Mathematics, vol. 85. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel (1992)
- [56] Petz, D.: A dual in von Neumann algebras with weights. Q. J. Math. Oxf. Ser. 2(35), 475–483 (1984)
- [57] Popa, S.: Correspondences (preliminary version). Unpublished manuscript. http://www.math.ucla.edu/~popa/popa-correspondences.pdf
- [58] Rudolph, D.J.: An example of a measure preserving map with minimal selfjoinings, and applications. J. Anal. Math. **35**, 97–122 (1979)
- [59] Sauvageot, J.-L.: Sur le produit tensoriel relatif d'espaces de Hilbert. J. Oper. Theory 9, 237–252 (1983)
- [60] Sauvageot, J.-L., Thouvenot, J.-P.: Une nouvelle dé finition de l'entropie dynamique des systèmes non commutatifs. Commun. Math. Phys. 145, 411–423 (1992)
- [61] Spohn, H.: Approach to equilibrium for completely positive dynamical semi-groups of N-level systems. Rep. Math. Phys. 10, 189–194 (1976)
- [62] Stinespring, W.F.: Positive functions on C*-algebras. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 6, 211–216 (1955)
- [63] Takesaki, M.: Theory of operator algebras II. In: Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, vol. 125. Operator Algebras and Non-commutative Geometry, vol. 6. Springer, Berlin (2003)
- [64] Verstraete, F., Verschelde, H.: On quantum channels. arXiv:quant-ph/0202124v2

Rocco Duvenhage and Machiel Snyman Department of Physics University of Pretoria Pretoria 0002 South Africa

email: rocco.duvenhage@up.ac.za

Machiel Snyman

email: mmsnyman@gmail.com

Communicated by Claude Alain Pillet.

Received: October 5, 2017. Accepted: February 7, 2018.